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To Our Shareholders,
The significant events that took place in fiscal year 2011
dramatically positioned Bassett for the opportunity to
deliver an exciting future for all of its stakeholders. After
several years of fighting through the worst housing slump
since the 1930s, the Company begins this year with a
renewed focus on profitable growth. Although the macro
challenges that our industry faces still exist, Bassett’s
strengthened balance sheet and improving performance
in both our retail and wholesale operating divisions gives
us a sense of cautious optimism as we look to 2012 and
beyond.
On May 3, 2011, Bassett sold its position in the
International Home Furnishings Center (IHFC) in High
Point, North Carolina. The Company had owned a
significant interest in “The Building” since 1985. At the
time of the transaction, Bassett’s ownership stake was
46.9%. Including a dividend paid by IHFC shortly before
the deal closed, Bassett received approximately $73
million in sale proceeds and also realized a pre-tax gain
of $85 million. The IHFC, along with several competing
properties in High Point and the World Market Center in
Las Vegas, combined to form a new entity, International
Market Centers (IMC). Bassett retained a 1% interest in the
new company, which has combined all of the significant
U.S. furniture wholesale showrooms. We believe that
the IHFC sale allowed Bassett to receive fair value for its
long standing investment. Additionally, the unification
of High Point and Las Vegas is a positive development for
our region and the furniture industry as a whole.
Turning to our operating results, consolidated net
sales for 2011 were $253,000,000, an increase of 8%
over 2010. Growing top line revenue is crucial for the
Company to achieve the favorable financial returns for
which we strive. Wholesale sales grew modestly last year
to $177 million, despite the reduction of our overall retail
store count, which will be discussed later. With a smaller
number of stores in operation, wholesale sales to the
network declined by 3% last year. On the other hand,
wholesale shipments to retailers outside of the Bassett
Home Furnishings (BHF) network grew by 5%. Retail sales
within our corporate BHF retail division increased (before
inter-company elimination) by $25.7 million, or 21%.
This substantial increase was primarily due to licensee
store takeovers, although comparable store sales grew
by a healthy 5%. Looking forward, we will have difficult

sales comparisons against prior levels until we can make
up the volume that we lost in closing a large amount of
stores over a relatively short time frame. Our ability to
make up that lost sales volume and grow beyond that
level will depend on driving increased sales in our existing
licensed and corporate stores, opening 4-5 new corporate
stores in 2012, gaining market share for Bassett with
complementary distribution outside of our store channel,
and the successful outcome of our recently announced
affiliation with Home & Garden Television.
Bassett’s retail network, launched in 1997, today accounts
for 70% of the shipments of wholesale furniture that the
Company either manufactures domestically or sources
from overseas. As the industry sales slump that began
in 2007 wore on, many of our retail licensees began to
face difficulty producing the necessary sales volume to
generate the cash to run sustainable operations. So began
the period of the past few years that was characterized
by the corporate takeover or outright closing of many of
the licensee owned stores. Since 2008, the dramatic shift
noted below has taken place:
Nov 30
2008

Nov 30
2009

Nov 30
2010

Nov 30
2011

Licensee
Owned Store

84

68

54

39

Corporate
Owned Store

31

36

47

49

Total

115

104

101

88

The final phase of this winnowing process took place
during the first three quarters of fiscal 2011. By year
end, approximately 53% of all BHF stores in operation
were part of the Company’s corporate retail division.
The great majority of remaining licensees are now able
to consistently meet their financial obligations to Bassett.
To that end, in certain markets, the Company forgave a
portion of outstanding receivables when it was deemed
that the licensee could generate significant sales and cash
flow on a go forward basis without increasing past due
exposure. The tremendous energy expended over the past
several years in architecting the ultimate solution for the
BHF fleet can now be channeled into operating a healthy
group of stores that will receive management’s undivided
attention. In that regard, we are pleased that operating
performance in our corporate stores improved by 39% in

2011. This year we will continue to analyze performance
by store, open 4-5 new corporate stores, and introduce
a number of programs aimed at increasing traffic and
average transaction value.
Both our upholstery and wood divisions were able to
grow operating profit at the divisional level last year,
by 3% and 8% respectively. Upholstery accounted for
56% of wholesale revenue while wood produced 44%.
Both divisions also achieved modest top line growth.
Upholstery’s year was highlighted by the expansion
of our Asian cut and sew platform which ultimately
translated into more domestic production. Our Bassett
Custom Upholstery program was also re-merchandised,
which has increased BHF store sales. On the wood front,
the year was highlighted by our first major foray into
Indonesia with the successful introduction of our Moultrie
Park collection. Initial sales of this product have been
outstanding. Additionally, the Small Spaces collection
has been a hit from another new facility in Vietnam. We
have very little wood production remaining in China, the
country where we began the sourcing of Asian made
casegoods some 15 years ago.
As noted, Bassett signed a licensing agreement with
Home & Garden Television (HGTV), a division of Scripps
Networks, LLC, last July. HGTV is nationally recognized
as the pre-eminent home furnishing media outlet in the
country. Their reach is unparalleled as they are broadcast
into 99 million households across the United States every
day. Their website, HGTV.com, enjoys enormous traffic
with over 70 million unique visitors every year. In addition
to Bassett, HGTV licensing agreements have been signed
by Sherwin-Williams Paints and Shaw, Inc. Both of these
companies generate billions of dollars of home products
revenue, providing tremendous synergy for Bassett’s copartnership. So, how will this all work? On the Bassett
retail side, HGTV will become a significant advertising
vehicle for our BHF stores on a national scale. For the
most part, this will be in the form of planned promotions
that are featured on the HGTV television network,
although HGTV.com will be utilized as well. Bassett will
produce a line of custom upholstery products, primarily
featured in the BHF stores, that will be labeled “HGTV
Design Studio.” The association with HGTV will also be
prominently communicated with in-store signage and
point of purchase materials. In addition, our merchants
have been busy collaborating with HGTV on a completely
new product assortment that will be marketed separately

under the name “HGTV Home Furniture Collection.” This
line of products will be sold to selected independent
retailers across the country and will not be sold in BHF
stores. The strategic alliance with HGTV is an enormous
undertaking with exciting potential to generate sales
growth. There is definitely upfront expense involved with
new showrooms, photography, store preparation, and
a few new key individuals that have been added to the
payroll. This investment is all the more difficult in that we
cannot recognize any offsetting revenue until the third
quarter of 2012. Nevertheless, we are extremely excited
about the new relationships with HGTV and their other
participating product category licensees. The “HGTV
Furniture Collection” line will be shown at the upcoming
April furniture market at the IHFC. The BHF store kickoff
with HGTV will take place later this year around the Labor
Day holiday weekend.
We are pleased that our Board of Directors in 2011
approved the reinstatement of a quarterly dividend after
the suspension of the payout at the height of the recession.
After declaring three dividends during 2011, the quarterly
dividend was increased to $.05/share in early 2012. Also
in 2011, a one time special dividend of $.50/share was
declared and later paid on January 3, 2012. Finally, the
Company purchased $3 million of common stock in the
open market at an average price of $7.99 over the last
seven months of fiscal 2011.
In closing, I would like to welcome Walter McDowell to
the Bassett Board of Directors. Walter retired as the Chief
Executive Officer of Carolina/Virginia Banking after a 35
year career at Wachovia Corporation. We look forward
to continuing to receive the insight and perspective that
Walter has already provided during his indoctrination to
the Company.
I would like to thank our 1,350 associates for their hard
work over these past few difficult years and look forward
to an improving environment in which we can successfully
move ahead. Finally, I thank our Board of Directors and
our shareholders for their support of Bassett in 2011.

Robert H. Spilman, Jr.
President & CEO

FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
Fiscal Years Ended November
2011

2010

2009

INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Net Sales
Net Income (Loss)

$253,208 )
55,342

$235,254
(2,002)

$232,722)
(22,699)

$4.79
0.60 )
13.44

$(0.17)
9.20

$(1.99)
-)
9.63)

PER SHARE DATA
Diluted Income (Loss)
Cash Dividends Per Share
Book Value Per Share
BALANCE SHEET DATA
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Investments
Total Assets
Long-Term Debt
Stockholders’ Equity

$69,601)
3,745)
223,174 )
3,662 )
152,435)

$11,071
15,111
197,317
4,295
106,305

$23,221
14,931
216,229
31,953
110,334

Dollars in thousands except per share amounts

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
Overview
Bassett is a leading retailer, manufacturer and marketer of branded home furnishings. Our products are sold primarily
through a network of licensee- and Company-owned branded stores under the Bassett Home Furnishings (“BHF”) name,
with additional distribution through other wholesale channels including multi-line furniture stores, many of which
feature Bassett galleries or design centers, specialty stores and mass merchants. We were founded in 1902 and
incorporated under the laws of Virginia in 1930. Our rich 109-year history has instilled the principles of quality, value,
and integrity in everything that we do, while simultaneously providing us with the expertise to respond to ever-changing
consumer tastes and to meet the demands of a global economy.
With 88 BHF stores at November 26, 2011, we have leveraged our strong brand name in furniture into a network of
licensed and corporate stores that focus on providing consumers with a friendly environment for buying furniture and
accessories. We created our store program in 1997 to provide a single source home furnishings retail store that provides
a unique combination of stylish, quality furniture and accessories with a high level of customer service. The store
features custom order furniture ready for delivery in less than 30 days, more than 750 upholstery fabrics, free in-home
design visits, and coordinated decorating accessories. We believe that our capabilities in custom furniture have become
unmatched in recent years. Our manufacturing team takes great pride in the breadth of its options, the precision of its
craftsmanship, and the speed of its delivery. The selling philosophy in the stores is based on building strong long term
relationships with each customer. Sales people are referred to as Design Consultants and are each trained to evaluate
customer needs and provide comprehensive solutions for their home decor. We continue to strengthen the sales and
design talent within our Company-owned retail stores. During 2011, our Design Consultants completed extensive
Design Certification training coursework. This coursework has strengthened their skills related to our house call and
design business, and is intended to increase business with our most valuable customers.
In order to reach markets that cannot be effectively served by our retail store network, we also distribute our products
through other wholesale channels including multi-line furniture stores, many of which feature Bassett galleries or design
centers, specialty stores and mass merchants. We believe this blended strategy provides us the greatest ability to
effectively distribute our products throughout the United States and ultimately gain market share. In September of 2011,
we announced the formation of a strategic partnership with HGTV television, a division of Scripps Networks, LLC. This
strategic alliance will combine our 109 year heritage in the furniture industry with the penetration of 99 million
households in the United States that HGTV enjoys today. In 2012, we will begin to market a line of HGTV-branded
custom upholstery and accent furniture in our BHF network and will also launch a new product range of HGTV
Furniture Collection products that will be sold to key independent retailers across the United States.
Our store network included 49 Company-owned and operated stores and 39 licensee-owned stores at November 26,
2011. During 2011, we acquired a total of nine licensee stores and closed seven underperforming Company-owned
stores resulting in charges of $966 and $1,221 for asset impairment and lease exit costs, respectively. We also recorded
an additional $1,007 in lease exit charges for several previously closed stores due to changes in circumstances affecting
our expected ability to partially recover our future lease obligations in those locations. All of these lease exit costs were
incurred prior to our fiscal third quarter of 2011. During our second fiscal quarter of 2011, we incurred a charge of
$1,500 for a cash payment made for the modification of an existing lease of one of our Company-owned store locations.
In addition to the changes in our Company-owned stores during 2011, we terminated the Bassett license agreement for
certain licensees resulting in the closure of six stores. As a result of these licensee terminations, we incurred loan
guarantee charges of $412 during 2011. Other store closures are possible during 2012 that could result in lease exit
charges or increases in our lease and loan guarantee reserves.
The following table summarizes the changes in store count during fiscal 2011:

Licensee-owned stores
Company-owned stores
Total

November
27, 2010
54
47
101

Openings

Closed
-

1

Transfers
(6)
(9)
(7)
9
(13)
-

November
26, 2011
39
49
88

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
On December 26, 2011, we opened a new leased store in Torrance, California marking our first store opening since April
of 2010 (other than relocating our store in Manchester, Missouri in the fourth quarter of 2011) and increasing our total
Company-owned and operated store count to 50. In February of 2012, we plan to close our store in Glen Allen, Virginia
and relocate it to a more desirable location adjacent to the Short Pump Town Center Mall northwest of Richmond,
Virginia. We have also signed lease agreements for store space in Paramus, New Jersey and Dallas, Texas and expect to
open stores in those locations by the end of 2012. Before signing leases for other new store locations, we currently plan
to evaluate the performance of these stores to ensure that investment returns warrant further capital investment in new
stores.
During the second quarter of fiscal 2011, we gained significant liquidity as a result of the sale of our investment in IHFC
(see “Sale of IHFC” below). This liquidity event has enabled us to become more opportunistic in managing our
relationships with our licensees and therefore accelerate certain licensees’ ability to rebuild their businesses after several
years of extremely difficult industry conditions. As such, we cancelled certain debts of what we consider to be key
licensees in select markets. While the debts cancelled were considered to be collectible over time, we believe that, rather
than requiring repayment of these obligations, we will realize a greater long-term benefit by the cancellation of these
debts. In exchange for relieving the debts of these licensees and thus strengthening their respective financial positions,
we believe these licensees will be in a much better position to reinvest in all aspects of their store operations (new
product offerings, personnel, advertising, building appeal, etc.), which will ultimately lead to increased sales and
profitability of the Bassett brand. As a result of this debt cancellation, we incurred a charge in the second quarter of
$6,447.
Our wholesale operations include an upholstery plant in Newton, North Carolina that produces a wide range of
upholstered furniture. We believe that we are an industry leader with our quick-ship custom upholstery offerings. We
also operate a custom dining manufacturing facility in Martinsville, Va. Most of our wood furniture and certain of our
upholstery offerings are sourced through several foreign plants, primarily in China and Vietnam. We define imported
product as fully finished product that is sourced internationally. For fiscal 2011, approximately 52% of our wholesale
sales were of imported product compared to 53% for fiscal 2010.
Overall conditions for our industry and our Company have been difficult over the past several years although we have
seen some slight improvement during the last year. Nevertheless, we have continued to face significant economic
pressures as new housing starts remain down and consumers continue to be faced with general economic uncertainty
fueled by continuing high unemployment, high fuel prices, and financial market volatility. These conditions have
significantly limited the resumption of growth for “big ticket” consumer purchases such as furniture. Consequently, this
has put pressure on certain of our dealers’ ability to generate adequate profits to fully pay us for the furniture we have
sold to them. As a result, we incurred significant bad debt and notes receivable valuation charges during the past three
fiscal years. For fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, we recorded $13,490, $6,567 and $15,205, respectively, in bad debt and
notes receivable valuation charges. During the second half of 2011, this trend improved significantly as we only
incurred bad debt charges of $464 for the six months ended November 26, 2011, reflecting improved credit positions
with our current fleet of licensees. Although management will continue to work closely with our licensees to ensure the
success of both the licensee and Bassett, further store closures are possible.
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Analysis of Operations
Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to November 30, which periodically results in a 53-week year. Fiscal 2011,
2010 and 2009 each contained 52 weeks. Net sales, gross profit, selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense,
and operating loss were as follows for the years ended November 26, 2011, November 27, 2010 and November 28, 2009:
2011
Net sales
Gross profit
SG&A
Bad debt and notes receivable valuation charges
Unusual charges (gains), net

$ 253,208
127,566
122,023
13,490
11,910

Loss from operations

$ (19,857)

2010

2009

100.0% $ 235,254 100.0% $ 232,722
50.4% 112,688
47.9% 102,840
48.2% 110,808
47.1% 103,789
5.3%
6,567
2.8%
15,205
4.7%
(488) -0.2%
3,794
-7.8% $ (4,199)

-1.8% $ (19,948)

100.0%
44.2%
44.6%
6.5%
1.6%
-8.5%

Sales for fiscal 2011 were $253,208 as compared to $235,254 for 2010 and $232,722 for 2009, representing increases
(decreases) of 7.6% and 1.1%, respectively. This trend primarily reflects the increase in the number of stores owned and
operated by us. Our consolidated net sales by segment were as follows:
2011
Wholesale
Retail
Inter-company elimination
Consolidated net sales

2010

2009

$ 177,372 $ 176,255 $ 179,534
147,961
122,241
105,378
(72,125)
(63,242)
(52,190)
$ 253,208 $ 235,254 $ 232,722

Gross margins for fiscal 2011, 2010, and 2009 were 50.4%, 47.9%, and 44.2%, respectively. The margin increases result
primarily from a greater mix of sales being through the retail segment as well as improved margins in both the wholesale
and retail segments. Selling, general and administrative expenses, excluding bad debt and notes receivable valuation
charges, increased $11,215 in 2011 as compared to 2010 and increased $7,019 in 2010 as compared to 2009 primarily
due to the increase in the number of Company-owned retail stores. Bad debt and notes receivable valuation charges
increased $6,923 in 2011 from 2010 levels. This increase reflects the continued deterioration of certain of our licensees
during 2011. As a result, we acquired nine stores from four licensees and closed six stores with three other licensees
during fiscal 2011. Bad debt and notes receivable valuation charges decreased by $8,638 in 2010 from 2009 levels as
many of the distressed licensee-owned stores for which significant bad debt and notes receivable valuation charges were
required in 2009 were acquired by us the following year.
Our operating loss in 2011 is primarily due to continued elevated bad debt charges in our wholesale segment, operating
losses incurred by our retail segment and various restructuring and unusual charges net of unusual gains. These retail
operating losses reflect the continuing weakness in the home furnishings retail environment, the shortfall between the
amount of sales required to breakeven on an average per store basis and the amount of sales that were actually written
and delivered, and costs associated with the acquisition and stabilization of distressed licensee stores. However, in the
last half of 2011 we did see a significant reduction in the amount of bad debt charges taken at the wholesale level, and
we have begun to see slight improvement in the retail environment. We continue to take actions to improve per store
sales performance including adding new value-oriented product offerings, strengthening our design and sales talent, and
incorporating elements of the new store prototype into more of our stores. In the recently acquired stores, it has
generally taken six to twelve months of operations by corporate retail management to either implement the changes
necessary to improve performance in these stores or to make a final determination regarding their on-going viability.
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Certain items affecting comparability between periods are noted below in “Investment and Real Estate Segment and
Other Items Affecting Net Loss”.
Our operating results were negatively or (positively) impacted by certain restructuring and non-recurring items as
detailed below:
2011
Income from Continued Dumping & Subsidy Offset Act
$
Restructuring, impaired asset charges and unusual gains, net
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of leasehold improvements
Asset impairment charge associated with closed plants
Supply contract termination costs associated with fiberboard plant closure
Severance & other restructuring
Lease exit costs
Licensee debt cancellation charges
$

2010

2009

(765) $

(488) $

(1,627)

1,156
1,312
32
3,728
6,447
11,910 $

(488) $

532
1,068
485
408
494
2,434
3,794

Fiscal 2011
Income from the Continued Dumping & Subsidy Offset Act
Income from the Continued Dumping & Subsidy Offset Act (“CDSOA”) in 2011 continued to be at reduced levels from
years prior to 2010 due to legislation enacted in 2006 that ends CDSOA distributions for monies collected after
September 30, 2007. Distributions of monies collected prior to that date have continued during 2009, 2010 and 2011. A
final distribution of the CDSOA funds, may be made in 2012, although the unpredictable outcome of the legal
proceedings in this matter will determine what our share will be, if any.
Restructuring and Asset Impairment Charges
During fiscal 2011, we recorded asset impairment charges of $2,500. These charges included costs of $318 for the
demolition of a previously closed facility in Bassett, Virginia, and $32 associated with the relocation of our retail store in
Manchester, Missouri. We also incurred non-cash charges which included: $566 for the additional write-down of a
previously closed manufacturing facility in Mt. Airy, North Carolina; and $428 for the additional write-down of a
previously closed manufacturing facility in Bassett, Virginia: $966 for the write-off of leasehold improvements and other
assets due to the closure of six Company-owned retail locations in Albuquerque, New Mexico; Bear, Delaware; Bel Air,
Maryland; Carol Stream, Illinois; Frederick, Maryland; and Spanish Fort, Alabama; and $190 for the write-off of
leasehold improvements and other assets associated with the relocation of our store in Manchester, Missouri. Total noncash impairment charges described above for the year ended November 26, 2011 were $2,150.
Lease Exit Costs
During fiscal 2011, we recorded charges of $3,728 in connection with our Company-owned retail stores for lease exit
costs and lease modifications which included: a non-cash charge of $337 for lease exit costs related to the closure of a
retail store in Albuquerque, New Mexico; non-cash charges of $1,007 to reflect reduced estimates of recoverable lease
costs at four previously closed retail locations; non-cash charges of $884 for lease exit costs associated with the closure
of the Bel Air and Frederick, Maryland stores as well as a previously closed location in Lewisville, Texas; and a charge
of $1,500 for a cash payment made for the modification of an existing lease at one of our retail store locations.
Licensee Debt Cancellation Charges
During fiscal 2011, we gained significant liquidity as a result of the sale of our investment in IHFC. This liquidity event
enabled us to become more opportunistic in managing our relationships with our licensees and therefore accelerate
certain licensees’ ability to rebuild their businesses after several years of extremely difficult industry conditions. As such,
during the second fiscal quarter of 2011, we cancelled certain debts of what we consider to be key licensees in select
markets. While the debts cancelled were considered to be collectible over time, we believe that, rather than requiring
4
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repayment of these obligations, we will realize a greater long-term benefit by the cancellation of these debts. In exchange
for relieving the debts of these licensees and thus strengthening their respective financial positions, we believe these
licensees will be in a much better position to reinvest in all aspects of their store operations (new product offerings,
personnel, advertising, building appeal, etc.) which will ultimately lead to increased sales and profitability of the Bassett
brand. As a result of this debt cancellation, we incurred a charge for the year ended November 26, 2011 of $6,447.
Fiscal 2010
Other than income of $488 from the CDSOA, no restructuring charges or other significant non-recurring items were
included in our loss from operations.
Fiscal 2009
In 2009, we recorded non-cash asset impairment charges of $1,068 for the write-off of the remaining leasehold
improvements for our Arlington, Texas and Alpharetta, Georgia retail stores as well as the closure of our retail office in
Greensboro, North Carolina. Also included in that amount was a non-cash charge to write-down the carrying value of
our long-lived assets associated with an underperforming retail location.
We recorded non-cash charges of $2,434 for lease exit costs related to the closure of the leased facilities noted above
(see also Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion).
We recorded a non-cash charge of $532 for the write-off of goodwill associated with store acquisitions in 2008 (see also
Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion).
We recorded a $485 non-cash charge to write-down the value of the property and equipment as a result of the fiberboard
plant closure in the fourth quarter of 2009. In addition, we recorded a $408 charge associated with the termination of a
power supply contract for the fiberboard plant.
Lastly, we recorded severance charges of $320 associated with a reduction in workforce announced in March 2009 and
$174 associated with the fiberboard plant closure.
Segment Information
We have strategically aligned our business into three reportable segments as described below:


Wholesale. The wholesale home furnishings segment is involved principally in the design, manufacture,
sourcing, sale and distribution of furniture products to a network of Bassett stores (licensee-owned stores and
Company-owned retail stores) and independent furniture retailers. Our wholesale segment includes our wood
and upholstery operations as well as all corporate selling, general and administrative expenses, including those
corporate expenses related to both Company- and licensee-owned stores. We eliminate the sales between our
wholesale and retail segments as well as the imbedded profit in the retail inventory for the consolidated
presentation in our financial statements.



Retail – Company-owned Stores. Our retail segment consists of Company-owned stores and includes the
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities (including real estate) and capital expenditures directly related to these
stores.



Investments and Real Estate. Our investments and real estate segment consists of our investments in
marketable securities, our investment in the Fortress Value Recovery Fund I, LLC (“Fortress”, formerly known
as the DB Zwirn Special Opportunities Fund previously held as an investment within the Bassett Industries
Alternative Asset Fund LP (“Alternative Asset Fund”)), equity investments in IHFC (sold during the second
quarter of 2011) and Zenith, and retail real estate related to licensee stores. Although this segment does not have
operating earnings, income from the segment is included in other income (loss), net, in our consolidated
statements of operations.
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In fiscal 2008, we requested our general partner in the Alternative Asset Fund, Private Advisors, L.L.C., to attempt to
liquidate all of our investments in the fund. During fiscal 2009 we received $19,258 for liquidations associated with
various investments in the Alternative Asset Fund. As of November 28, 2009, the Alternative Asset Fund held only a
$749 investment in Fortress, along with some remaining cash that was distributed in early 2010. Due to the level of the
remaining assets in the Alternative Asset Fund, the Company and Private Advisors, L.L.C. dissolved the partnership
effective December 31, 2009 and the Alternative Asset Fund’s remaining investment interest in Fortress was transferred
to the Company.
Wholesale Segment
Net sales, gross profit, selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense, and operating income (loss) for our
Wholesale Segment were as follows for the years ended November 26, 2011, November 27, 2010 and November 28,
2009:
2011
Net sales
$
Gross profit
SG&A
Bad debt and notes receivable
valuation charges
Income (loss) from operations $

177,372
57,804
48,708
13,490
(4,394)

2010

2009

100.0% $
32.6%
27.5%

176,255
55,010
46,012

100.0% $
31.2%
26.1%

7.6%
-2.5% $

6,567
2,431

3.7%
1.4% $

179,534
53,225
47,120
15,205
(9,100)

100.0%
29.6%
26.2%
8.5%
-5.1%

Wholesale shipments by category for the last three fiscal years are summarized below:
2011
Wood
Upholstery
Other
Total

$

$

77,410
98,577
1,385
177,372

2010
43.6% $
55.6%
0.8%
100.0% $

77,326
97,258
1,671
176,255

2009
43.9% $
55.2%
0.9%
100.0% $

89,428
87,652
2,454
179,534

49.8%
48.8%
1.4%
100.0%

Fiscal 2011 as Compared to Fiscal 2010
Net sales for the wholesale segment were $177,372 for 2011 as compared to $176,255 for 2010, an increase of
0.6%. Reductions in wholesale sales due to 13 fewer stores in the network were offset by a 10.5% increase in sales
through other channels. For 2011, approximately 52% of our wholesale sales were of imported product compared to
53% for 2010.
Gross margins for the wholesale segment were 32.6% for 2011 as compared to 31.2% for 2010. This increase is
primarily due to lower promotional discounts and improved margins in our wood operations largely from reduced
container freight costs. Wholesale SG&A, excluding bad debt and notes receivable valuation charges, increased $2,696
to $48,708 for 2011 as compared to $46,012 for 2010. As a percentage of net sales, SG&A increased 1.4 percentage
points to 27.5% for 2011 as compared to 26.1% for 2010. This increase is primarily due to higher sales and marketing
costs, including costs to prepare for the launch of the HGTV product line. We recorded $13,490 of bad debt and notes
receivable valuation charges for 2011 as compared with $6,567 for 2010. This increase reflects the continued
deterioration of certain of our licensees during 2011. As a result, we acquired nine and closed six licensee-owned stores
during 2011.
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Fiscal 2010 as Compared to Fiscal 2009
Net sales for the wholesale segment were $176,255 for 2010 as compared to $179,534 for a decrease of 1.8%. Excluding
sales of fiberboard product, the production of which was discontinued in late 2009, wholesale shipments increased by
1.1% over 2009. This increase in shipments was indicative of slightly improving market conditions, particularly in the
latter part of 2010. In addition, shipments during the first half of 2010 were adversely affected by delays in receiving
imported product from certain of our overseas suppliers. In an effort to mitigate the stock outages caused by these delays
and improve service levels to our customers, we began to increase inventory levels during the second and third quarters
of 2010. As a result, we were able to substantially eliminate the excess backlog of delayed shipments during the final
quarter of the year. Approximately 53% and 51% of wholesale shipments during 2010 and 2009, respectively, were
imported products.
Gross margins for the wholesale segment were 31.2% for 2010 as compared to 29.6% for 2009. This increase is due to
improved margins on the imported wood and upholstery products as well as the closure of the fiberboard plant during the
fourth quarter of 2009 which essentially operated at a breakeven gross profit during 2009; partially offset by the
introduction of a lower cost upholstery line that has a slightly lower margin, and higher freight costs on imported product
during the fourth quarter of 2010. Wholesale SG&A expense, excluding bad debt and notes receivable valuation
charges, declined $1,108, or 2.4%, for 2010 as compared to 2009, due primarily to lower spending due to continued cost
cutting measures. We recorded $6,567 of bad debt and notes receivable valuation charges in 2010 as compared to
$15,205 for 2009. This significant decrease in charges is primarily due to our efforts to work diligently with the
licensees to control increases in accounts and notes receivable exposure. In addition, many of the distressed licenseeowned stores for which significant bad debt and notes receivable valuation charges were required in 2009 have since
been acquired by us and are now run as company-owned stores.
Wholesale Backlog
The dollar value of our wholesale backlog, representing orders received but not yet delivered to dealers and Company
stores as of November 26, 2011, November 27, 2010, and November 28, 2009, was as follows:
2011
Year end wholesale backlog

$

2010

10,325 $

2009

12,451 $

10,301

Retail Segment – Company Owned Stores
Net sales, gross profit, selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense, and operating income (loss) for our Retail
Segment were as follows for the years ended November 26, 2011, November 27, 2010 and November 28, 2009:
2011
Net sales
Gross profit
SG&A
Loss from operations

$

$

147,961
69,862
74,357
(4,495)

2010
100.0% $
47.2%
50.3%
-3.0% $

122,241
58,628
66,015
(7,387)

2009
100.0% $
48.0%
54.0%
-6.0% $

105,378
49,550
57,681
(8,131)

100.0%
47.0%
54.7%
-7.7%

The following tables present operating results on a comparable store basis for each comparative set of periods. Table A
compares the results of the 32 stores that were open and operating for all of 2011 and 2010. Table B compares the
results of the 27 stores that were open and operating for all of 2010 and 2009.
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Comparable Store Results:
Table A: 2011 vs 2010 (32 Stores)
2011
2010
Net sales
Gross profit
SG&A expense
Loss from operations

$ 99,924
48,366
50,429
$ (2,063)

100.0% $ 95,342
48.4% 46,567
50.5% 49,993
-2.1% $ (3,426)

Table B: 2010 vs 2009 (27 Stores)
2010
2009

100.0% $ 82,063
48.8% 40,081
52.4% 43,288
-3.6% $ (3,207)

100.0% $ 86,131
48.8% 40,838
52.7% 46,279
-3.9% $ (5,441)

100.0%
47.4%
53.7%
-6.3%

The following tables present operating results for all other stores which were not comparable year-over-year, each table
including the results of stores that either opened or closed at some point during the 24 months of each comparative set of
periods.
All Other (Non-Comparable) Store Results:
2011 vs 2010 All Other Stores
2011
2010
Net sales
Gross profit
SG&A expense
Loss from operations

$ 48,037
21,496
23,928
$ (2,432)

100.0% $ 26,899
44.7% 12,061
49.8% 16,022
-5.1% $ (3,961)

2010 vs 2009 All Other Stores
2010
2009
100.0% $ 40,178
44.8% 18,547
59.6% 22,727
-14.7% $ (4,180)

100.0% $ 19,247
46.2%
8,712
56.6% 11,402
-10.4% $ (2,690)

100.0%
45.3%
59.2%
-14.0%

Fiscal 2011 as Compared to Fiscal 2010
Our Company-owned stores had sales of $147,961 in 2011 as compared to $122,241 in 2010, an increase of 21.0%. The
increase was comprised of a $21,138 increase primarily from additional Company-owned stores and a $4,582, or 4.8%,
increase in comparable store sales. While we do not recognize sales until goods are delivered to the customer, we track
written sales (the dollar value of sales orders taken, rather than delivered) as a key store performance indicator. Written
sales for comparable stores increased by 2.9% in 2011 over 2010.
Gross margins for 2011 decreased 0.8 percentage points to 47.2% as compared to 2010 due primarily to lower margins
from the store liquidation sales at the seven stores closed, as well as slightly lower margins from comparable
stores. SG&A increased $8,342, primarily due to increased store count. On a comparable store basis, SG&A decreased
1.9 percentage points to 50.5% for 2011 as compared to 2010 due to increased sales leveraging fixed costs and improved
operating efficiencies. Operating losses for the comparable stores decreased by $1,363 to $2,063, or 2.1% of sales. In
all other stores, the operating loss was $2,432 or 5.1% of sales. This higher level of operating losses reflects the fact that
the acquired stores were struggling or failing at the time of acquisition. It has generally taken six to twelve months of
operations by corporate retail management to either implement the changes necessary to improve performance in the
acquired stores or to make a final determination regarding their on-going viability.
Fiscal 2010 as Compared to Fiscal 2009
Our Company-owned stores had sales of $122,241 in 2010 as compared to $105,378 in 2009, an increase of 16%. The
increase was comprised of a $20,931 increase from the net addition of seventeen stores since the end of fiscal 2008,
partially offset by a $4,068, or 4.7% decrease in comparable store sales. While we do not recognize sales until goods are
delivered to the customer, we track written sales (the dollar value of sales orders taken, rather than delivered) as a key
store performance indicator. Written sales for comparable stores during 2010 decreased 1.3% from 2009. The smaller
decline in written sales relative to the larger decline in delivered sales at comparable stores reflects improved market
conditions in the latter half of 2010, as compared with weaker conditions in late 2009 which adversely impacted our
shipping rates during the first quarter of 2010.
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Gross margins for 2010 increased 1.0 percentage point compared to 2009 due to improved pricing and promotional
strategies and improved clearance margins. SG&A expense increased $8,334 from 2009, comprised of an increase of
$11,325 resulting from the net addition of retail stores, partially offset by a decline of $2,991 at comparable stores due to
lower sales levels and continued cost containment efforts. On a comparable store basis, SG&A decreased 1.0 percentage
point as a percentage of sales for 2010 as compared with 2009, and our operating loss was reduced by 41.1% to $3,207.
In all other stores, the operating loss was $4,180 or 10.4% of sales. This higher level of operating losses reflects the fact
that the acquired stores were struggling or failing at the time of acquisition. It has generally taken six to twelve months
of operations by corporate retail management to either implement the changes necessary to improve performance in the
acquired stores or to make a final determination regarding their on-going viability.
Retail Backlog
The dollar value of our retail backlog, representing orders received but not yet delivered to customers as of November
26, 2011, November 27, 2010, and November 28, 2009, was as follows:
2011
Year end retail backlog
Retail backlog per open store

$
$

14,101 $
288 $

2010
13,689 $
291 $

2009
8,687
241

Investment and Real Estate Segment and Other Items Affecting Net Income (Loss)
Our investments and real estate segment consists of our investments in marketable securities, our investment in the
Fortress Value Recovery Fund I, LLC (“Fortress”), equity investments in IHFC (sold during the second quarter of 2011)
and Zenith, and retail real estate related to licensee stores. Although this segment does not have operating earnings,
income or loss from the segment is included in other income in our consolidated statements of operations. Our equity
investment in IHFC was not included in the identifiable assets of this segment at November 27, 2010 since it had a
negative book value and was therefore included in the long-term liabilities section of our consolidated balance sheet. As
more fully discussed under “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below, our entire investment in IHFC was sold during the
second quarter of 2011 resulting in a gain of $85,542.
We own 49% of Zenith Freight Lines, LLC, (“Zenith”) which provides domestic transportation and warehousing
services primarily to furniture manufacturers and distributors and also provides home delivery services to furniture
retailers. We have contracted with Zenith to provide for substantially all of our domestic freight, transportation and
warehousing needs for the wholesale business. In addition, Zenith provides home delivery services for several of our
Company-owned retail stores. We believe our partnership with Zenith allows us to focus on our core competencies of
manufacturing and marketing home furnishings. Zenith focuses on offering Bassett customers best-of-class service and
handling. We consider the expertise that Zenith exhibits in logistics to be a significant competitive advantage for us. In
addition, we believe that Zenith is well positioned to take advantage of current growth opportunities for providing
logistical services to the furniture industry. Our investment in Zenith was $6,137 at November 26, 2011. During the
second quarter of 2011, we made an additional cash investment of $980, which represented our 49% share of a total
$2,000 equity contribution to Zenith to partially fund their acquisition of a warehouse facility.
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Investment and real estate income (loss) and other items affecting net income (loss) for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as
follows:
2011

2010

2009

Gain on sale of IHFC
Loss from Alternative Asset Fund
Gain on sale of equity securities
Other than temporary impairment of investments
come from unconsolidated affiliated companies, net
Interest expense
Retail real estate impairment charges
Lease exit costs
Loan and lease guarantee expense
Gain on mortgage settlements
Other

$

85,542 $
1,840
(912)
(3,953)
(837)
(1,282)
1,305
(2,095)

- $
2,024
4,700
(1,994)
(1,407)
(1,332)

(2,730)
764
(1,255)
5,067
(2,639)
(2,834)
(878)

Total income (loss)

$

79,608 $

1,991 $

(4,505)

The Alternative Asset Fund recorded a loss of $2,730 for fiscal 2009. In fiscal 2008, we requested our general partner in
the Alternative Asset Fund, Private Advisors, L.L.C., to attempt to liquidate all of our investments in the fund. During
fiscal 2009 we received $19,258 for liquidations associated with various investments in the Alternative Asset Fund. As
of November 28, 2009, the Alternative Asset Fund held only a $749 investment in Fortress, along with some remaining
cash that was distributed in early 2010. Due to the level of the remaining assets in the Alternative Asset Fund, the
Company and Private Advisors, L.L.C. dissolved the partnership effective December 31, 2009 and the Alternative Asset
Fund’s remaining investment interest in Fortress was transferred to the Company.
Historically, our marketable securities have been held by two different money managers and consisted of a combination
of equity and fixed income securities, including money market funds. During the second quarter of 2010, we liquidated
our equity holdings with one of the managers and reinvested the proceeds in various money market funds, individual
bonds and bond funds. During the first quarter of 2010, we liquidated the equity holdings with the other manager and
reinvested those funds in money market accounts.
We review our marketable securities to determine whether a decline in fair value of a security below the cost basis is
other than temporary. Should the decline be considered other than temporary, we write down the cost basis of the
security and include the loss in current earnings as opposed to recording an unrealized holding loss. Due to the decline in
the financial markets during fiscal 2008 and into the first quarter of fiscal 2009, many of our holdings sustained
significant losses. Consequently, we recorded $1,255 in other than temporary losses in our consolidated statement of
operations in fiscal 2009.
Income from unconsolidated affiliated companies, net includes income from our investment in IHFC (up to the time of
the sale of our investment in the second quarter of 2011) as well as income from our equity method investment in Zenith.
We recognized income from IHFC and Zenith as follows:
2011
2010
2009
1,832 $
4,535 $
4,705
8
165
362
$
1,840 $
4,700 $
5,067

IHFC
Zenith

$

Loan and lease guarantee expense consists of adjustments to our reserves for the net amount of our estimated losses on
loan and lease guarantees that we have entered into on behalf of our licensees. We recognized expense of $1,282, $1,407
and $2,834 for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, to reflect the changes in our estimates of the additional risk that
we may have to assume the underlying obligations with respect to our guarantees.
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Retail real estate impairment charges for 2011 include non-cash asset impairment charges of $2,106 to write down idle
retail locations in Henderson, Nevada and Chesterfield, Virginia to appraised value, and $1,847 to write off certain
tenant improvements deemed to be unrecoverable.
Lease exit costs of $837 for 2011 consist of non-cash charges related to lease termination costs at three idle retail
locations.
During 2011, we entered into Discounted Payoff Agreements (“DPOs”) with the lenders on three mortgages which were
then paid off. Under the terms of these DPOs, the remaining balance owed was reduced, resulting in a $1,305 gain on the
settlement of these mortgages.
Provision for Income Taxes
We recorded an income tax provision (benefit) of $4,409, $(206) and $(1,754) in fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. For 2011, our effective tax rate of approximately 7.3% differs from the blended statutory rate of 35.0%
primarily due to the reversal of a substantial portion of the valuation allowance on existing deferred tax assets resulting
from our utilization of net operating loss carryforwards and credits to significantly offset the taxable gain on the sale of
an equity investment (see “Sale of IHFC” below). The benefit recognized in fiscal 2010 arose primarily as a result of the
lapse of the statute of limitations on unrecognized state tax benefits, partially offset by the accrual of income taxes to be
paid in certain states and penalties associated with certain unrecognized tax benefits. The benefit recognized in fiscal
2009 resulted from our utilization of additional net operating loss carrybacks as provided by the Worker,
Homeownership, and Business Assistance Act of 2009 which extended the general carryback period for 2008 NOLs
from two years to up to five. Our effective income tax rates for 2010 and 2009 were (9.2)% and (7.1)%,
respectively. The effective rate for those years was favorably impacted by exclusions for dividends received from our
investment in IHFC and unfavorably impacted in fiscal 2009 by the write-off of goodwill. See also Note 12, Income
Taxes, to the consolidated financial statements for a full reconciliation of the effective income tax rate for fiscal 2011,
2010 and 2009, as well as additional information regarding our available NOLs and other deferred tax assets and
liabilities.
We continue to have $21,023 of deferred tax assets as of November 26, 2011, substantially offset by a valuation
allowance of $19,612. This allowance will remain until such time that our historical operating results and expected
future income are sufficient to indicate that it is more likely than not that such assets will be realized. Should we
conclude in the future that there is adequate evidence to reverse the remaining valuation allowance, we will recognize a
tax benefit in the period in which such a determination is made.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We are committed to maintaining a strong balance sheet in order to weather the current difficult industry conditions, to
allow us to take advantage of opportunities as market conditions improve, and to execute our long-term retail strategies.
Because new housing starts are down and consumers continue to be faced with general economic uncertainty fueled by
continuing high unemployment, high fuel costs, and renewed volatility in the financial markets, consumer spending has
decreased, resulting in significant financial losses for us and damaging the ability of certain of our licensees to generate
sufficient cash flow in their businesses. During fiscal 2009, we implemented measures to reduce operating expenses and
improve working capital to enhance our cash flow, and have continued to carefully manage our cost structure and
working capital throughout fiscal 2010 and 2011.
Sale of IHFC
On May 2, 2011, we completed the sale of our investment in IHFC, receiving cash proceeds of $69,152 and recording a
gain of $85,542. We have retired certain debt and other long-term obligations, settled various closed stores and idle
facilities obligations, resumed paying a quarterly dividend, began buying back stock and paid a special dividend of $0.50
per share. We will continue to evaluate appropriate uses of available cash which may include more of such items
previously listed along with future working capital needs and modest investments in new or repositioned Companyowned stores.
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In addition to the $69,152 of cash received upon or following the closing of the IHFC sale, we expect to receive
additional cash proceeds from the sale of IHFC as follows:
Tax escrow receivable (1)
Indemnification escrow receivable (2)
Total remaining cash consideration receivable from IHFC sale

$
$

1,413
4,695
6,108

(1) Included in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at November 26, 2011.
(2) $2,348 included in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at November 26,
2011, with the remainder included in other assets.
The tax escrow receivable represents the portion of escrowed sales proceeds expected to be released to us after the
settlement of certain outstanding IHFC tax obligations. In addition, $4,695 of proceeds was placed in escrow to
indemnify the purchaser with respect to various contingencies. Any unused portions of these escrowed funds will be
released to us over a three year period. Currently, we have no reason to believe that any obligations will arise out of
such contingencies and therefore expect that the escrowed funds, along with earnings thereon, will be released to us in
their entirety as scheduled.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities was $(5,431), $7,788, and $4,120, for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009
respectively.
Cash used in operations during 2011 was $5,431 as compared with cash provided by operations of $7,778 for 2010, a
decline in operating cash flow of $13,209. This decrease is primarily attributable to settlement of accounts payable
during the first quarter of 2011 related to the build-up of inventory during the second half of 2010. We also made
estimated Federal and state tax payments of $3,151 resulting from the taxable income generated by the gain on the sale
of IHFC. Also, a cash payment of $1,500 to obtain a lease modification for one of our Company-owned store locations
was funded out of operating cash flow in the second quarter of 2011.
Our overall cash position increased for 2011 by $58,530, primarily due to the $69,152 of cash proceeds received from
the sale of our interest in IHFC as discussed above, as well as a final dividend paid to us by IHFC prior to the sale in the
amount of $3,756. In addition, cash provided by investing activities includes $11,240 from the release of collateral
restrictions on cash equivalents. These cash flows were partially offset by cash used for other investing activities which
included $4,168 in fixed asset additions, largely for improvement to certain of our Company-owned retail stores and
leasehold improvements associated with repositioning our Manchester, Missouri store, and an equity capital contribution
to Zenith of $980, which represented our 49% share of a total $2,000 equity contribution to Zenith to partially fund their
acquisition of a warehouse facility. Cash used in financing activities for 2011 consisted primarily of payments on our
mortgages and other notes payable of $12,053, as well as cash dividends paid of $695 and stock repurchases in the
amount of $2,964. In addition to the $69,601 of cash on hand, we have marketable securities available for sale
consisting of $2,939 in bond funds and individual debt securities. With the current level of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities on hand, we believe we have sufficient liquidity to fund operations for the foreseeable future.
Receivables and Inventory
Cash collections on our accounts and notes receivable have a significant impact on our overall liquidity. While our cash
flow from operations during fiscal 2009 was adversely affected by an increase in accounts receivable before reserves due
to the continued difficult environment at retail resulting in lower cash collections, this trend eased somewhat during
2010. However, cash collections during the third quarter of 2010 were adversely affected by delayed shipments due to
stock outages. Shipments improved significantly during the fourth quarter of 2010, and we had begun to see the expected
resulting improvement in collections from our customers by the end of 2010 and through 2011.
As previously discussed, we gained significant liquidity as a result of the sale of our investment in IHFC (see “Sale of
IHFC” above). This liquidity event has enabled us to become more opportunistic in managing our relationships with our
licensees and therefore accelerate certain licensees’ ability to rebuild their businesses after several years of extremely
difficult industry conditions. As such, during the second quarter of 2011, we cancelled certain debts of what we consider
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to be key licensees in select markets. While the debts cancelled were considered to be collectible over time, we believe
that, rather than requiring repayment of these obligations, we will realize a greater long-term benefit by the cancellation
of these debts. In exchange for relieving the debts of these licensees and thus strengthening their respective financial
positions, we believe these licensees will be in a much better position to reinvest in all aspects of their store operations
(new product offerings, personnel, advertising, building appeal, etc.) which will ultimately lead to increased sales and
profitability of the Bassett brand. As a result of this debt cancellation, we incurred a charge during the second quarter of
2011 in the amount of $6,447.
Our percentage of accounts receivable that are over 90 days past due has decreased from approximately 23% at
November 27, 2010 to less than 1% at November 26, 2011. We recorded $13,490 of bad debt and notes receivable
valuation charges during 2011 as compared to $6,567 during 2010. This increase reflects the continued deterioration of
certain of our licensees during 2011.
The following table reflects our accounts receivable and notes receivable and related bad debt reserves:
November
26, 2011
Gross accounts receivable
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Net accounts receivable

$

November
27, 2010

$

16,848 $
(2,092)
14,756 $

38,987
(7,366)
31,621

Gross notes receivable

$

6,017 $

14,914

Allowance for doubtful accounts and discounts on notes
receivable
Net notes receivable

$

(4,140)
1,877 $

(6,748)
8,166

Our accounts and notes receivable reserve and notes discount activity for fiscal 2011 are as follows:
Accounts
Receivable
Balance at November 27, 2010
Bad debt and note valuation charges
Write-offs
Discount amortization
Balance at November 26, 2011

$

$

Notes
Receivable

7,366 $
8,778
(14,052)
2,092 $

6,748 $
4,712
(7,292)
(28)
4,140 $

Total
14,114
13,490
(21,344)
(28)
6,232

Our licensee review committee (“LRC”) consists of our CEO, CAO, Senior VP of Retail, VP of Licensed Retail, General
Counsel, and Corporate Director of Credit. The LRC meets frequently to review licensee performance, typically
reviewing a wide-range of licensee related issues, including licensee capitalization, projected operating performance, the
viability of the market in which the licensee operates and the licensee’s operating history, including our cash receipts
from the licensee and its sales. Should a licensee have substantial past due amounts due to us, but is otherwise considered
viable and likely to continue as a going concern, the LRC has, in the past, decided to move all or a portion of the
licensee’s past due accounts receivable to a note receivable. We believed that the note receivable allowed the licensee to
focus on keeping current and future amounts current, while continuing to meet its financial obligations to us. We no
longer believe this to be a prudent strategy and do not plan to convert additional past due receivables into long-term
interest bearing notes in the foreseeable future.
Our accounts and notes receivable are secured by the filing of security statements in accordance with the Uniform
Commercial Code and/or real estate owned by the note holder and in some cases, personal guarantees by our
licensees. Our practice has generally been to work with the store owner to run a going out of business sale and use any
proceeds to fund the remaining receivable. Our success with these events has varied. However, typically the amounts
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recovered have not been materially different from the carrying amount of the receivable. Consequently, we generally
have not been required to record significant bad debt expenses upon the conclusion of the event.
Our investment in inventory affects our liquidity in several different ways. First, cash paid for raw materials, labor, and
factory overhead for the manufacture or assembly of our domestic inventories is typically paid out well in advance of
receiving cash from the sale of these inventories. Payments for our imported inventories are funded much further in
advance of receiving cash from the sale of these inventories as compared to our domestically manufactured or assembled
inventories. The length of our import supply chain necessitates complex forecasting of future demand levels and is
highly judgmental. In economic downturns, the speed at which we can respond to decreasing demand is slowed, as we
typically have imported inventory in shipment or being manufactured at any given time. In addition, we may also have
inventory commitments under purchase orders that have not begun the manufacturing process. Consequently, as
inventories build temporarily during downturns or as we near new product roll-outs, our liquidity is reduced as we have
more cash invested in our products. Second, the availability under our revolving credit facility is impacted by changes in
our inventory balances. Lastly, if we fail to respond to changes in consumer tastes quickly enough, inventories may
build and decrease our liquidity.
Our inventories consist of the following:

Wholesale finished goods
Work in process
Raw materials and supplies
Retail merchandise
Total inventories on first-in, first-out method
LIFO adjustment
Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory

November 26, November 27,
2011
2010
$
26,873 $
24,934
222
244
5,660
6,100
20,504
18,810
53,259
50,088
(6,955)
(6,550)
(1,175)
(1,728)
$
45,129 $
41,810

We estimate an inventory reserve for excess quantities and obsolete items based on specific identification and historical
write-offs, taking into account future demand, market conditions and the respective valuations at LIFO. The need for
these reserves is primarily driven by the normal product life cycle. As products mature and sales volumes decline, we
rationalize our product offerings to respond to consumer tastes and keep our product lines fresh. If actual demand or
market conditions in the future are less favorable than those estimated, additional inventory write-downs may be
required. In determining reserves, we calculate separate reserves on our wholesale and retail inventories. Our wholesale
inventories tend to carry the majority of the reserves for excess quantities and obsolete inventory due to the nature of our
distribution model. These wholesale reserves primarily represent design and/or style obsolescence. Typically, product is
not shipped to our retail warehouses until a consumer has ordered and paid a deposit for the product. We do not typically
hold retail inventory for stock purposes. Consequently, floor sample inventory and inventory for delivery to customers
account for the majority of our inventory at retail. Retail reserves are based on accessory and clearance floor sample
inventory in our stores and any inventory that is not associated with a specific customer order in our retail warehouses.
Activity in the reserves for excess quantities and obsolete inventory by segment is as follows:
Wholesale
Retail
Segment
Segment
Total
$
1,465 $
389 $
1,854
1,588
226
1,814
(1,534)
(406)
(1,940)
1,519
209
1,728
688
272
960
(1,220)
(293)
(1,513)
$
987 $
188 $
1,175

Balance at November 28, 2009
Additions charged to expense
Write-offs
Balance at November 27, 2010
Additions charged to expense
Write-offs
Balance at November 26, 2011
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Our estimates and assumptions have been reasonably accurate in the past. We did not make any significant changes to
our methodology for determining inventory reserves in 2011 and do not anticipate that our methodology is reasonably
likely to change in the future. A plus or minus 10% change in our inventory reserves would not have been material to our
financial statements for the periods presented.
Debt and Other Obligations
With our current level of liquidity, we have substantially reduced the size of our line of credit with our bank. On July 5,
2011, we entered into a temporary renewal agreement with our bank for a $10,000 revolving line of credit that matured
September 5, 2011. On September 28, 2011, we received a commitment letter from our bank offering a $3,000 line of
credit which will be used primarily to back our outstanding letters of credit. This new credit facility, which became
effective on December 9, 2011, contains covenants requiring us to maintain certain key financial ratios, however there
will be no requirement to pledge assets as collateral. At November 26, 2011, we had $2,318 outstanding under standby
letters of credit.
We have two mortgages totaling $3,864 as of November 26, 2011. We expect to satisfy the remaining mortgage
obligations from cash flow from operations or our available cash on hand.
We lease land and buildings that are used in the operation of our Company-owned retail stores as well as in the operation
of licensee-owned stores. We had obligations of $73,249 at November 26, 2011 for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancelable operating leases having remaining terms in excess of one year. We also have guaranteed certain
lease obligations of licensee operators. Lease guarantees range from one to ten years. We were contingently liable under
licensee lease obligation guarantees in the amount of $2,515 at November 26, 2011. We have also guaranteed loans of
certain of our licensees to finance initial inventory packages for those stores. The total contingent liabilities with respect
to these loan guarantees were $186 at November 26, 2011.
Dividends and Share Repurchases
In early 2009, in response to the pressures placed upon our cash flows brought on by the severity of the economic
recession, we suspended our practice of paying regular dividends. Due to the substantial improvement in our liquidity
resulting from the sale of our interest in IHFC, we resumed the payment of dividends and began repurchasing shares in
the open market late in the second quarter of fiscal 2011. During fiscal 2011, two quarterly dividends totaling $695 were
paid to shareholders, with a third quarterly dividend of $397 and a special dividend of $5,665 being distributed to
shareholders in December of 2011. During fiscal 2011, we also repurchased 370,800 shares of our stock for
$2,964. The weighted-average effect of these share repurchases was to increase our basic and diluted earnings per share
in 2011 by $0.04 and $0.03, respectively.
Capital Expenditures
We currently anticipate that total capital expenditures for fiscal 2012 will be between $7,000 and $9,000 which will be
used primarily for the build out of new stores and remodeling of existing Company-owned stores. Our capital
expenditure and working capital requirements in the foreseeable future may change depending on many factors,
including but not limited to the overall performance of the new prototype stores, our rate of growth, our operating results
and any adjustments in our operating plan needed in response to industry conditions, competition or unexpected events.
We believe that our existing cash and marketable securities portfolio, together with cash from operations, will be
sufficient to meet our capital expenditure and working capital requirements for the foreseeable future.
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Fair Value Measurements
We account for items measured at fair value in accordance with ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures. ASC 820’s valuation techniques are based on observable and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs
reflect readily obtainable data from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our market assumptions. ASC
820 classifies these inputs into the following hierarchy:
Level 1 Inputs– Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2 Inputs– Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments
in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value
drivers are observable.
Level 3 Inputs– Instruments with primarily unobservable value drivers.
Areas which involve significant fair value estimates in determining the amounts recognized in our financial statements
and the level of inputs utilized are as follows (note references refer to our Consolidated Financial Statements included
under Item 8 in this Annual Report):
Hierarchy Level
of Utilized
Inputs
Level 1
Level 3
Level 3
Level 3

Marketable securities
Investment in Fortress
Acquisitions & goodwill
Loan & lease guarantees

Financial
Statement Note
Reference
Note 8
Note 8
Note 10
Note 18

All other fair value estimates which are made for disclosure purposes only utilize Level 3 Inputs (see Note 8 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements).
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
We enter into contractual obligations and commercial commitments in the ordinary course of business (See Note 18 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of these obligations). The following table summarizes our
contractual payment obligations and other commercial commitments and the fiscal year in which they are expected to be
paid.
2012
Post employment
benefit obligations (1) $
Real estate notes
payable
Other obligations &
commitments
Interest payable
Letters of credit
Operating leases (2)
Lease guarantees (4)
Loan guarantees (4)
Purchase
obligations (3)
Total
$

(1)

(2)
(3)

2013

1,335

$

2014

1,220

$

2015

1,178

$

2016

1,123

$

Thereafter

1,081

$

9,672

Total
$

15,609

202

216

231

247

264

2,704

3,864

150
254
2,318
17,639
1,625
174

150
240
15,165
403
12

150
225
11,638
403
-

100
209
9,200
84
-

100
192
6,543
-

250
758
13,064
-

900
1,878
2,318
73,249
2,515
186

23,697

$

17,406

$

13,825

$

10,963

$

8,180

$

26,448

$

100,519

Does not reflect a reduction for the impact of any company owned life insurance proceeds to be
received. Currently, we have life insurance policies with net death benefits of $4,307 to provide funding for
these obligations. See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
Does not reflect a reduction for the impact of sublease income to be received. See Note 18 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for more information.
The Company is not a party to any long-term supply contracts with respect to the purchase of raw materials or
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(4)

finished goods. At the end of fiscal year 2011, we had approximately $15,246 in open purchase orders,
primarily for imported inventories, which are in the ordinary course of business.
Lease and loan guarantees relate to payments we would only be required to make in the event of default on the
part of the guaranteed parties.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We utilize stand-by letters of credit in the procurement of certain goods in the normal course of business. We lease land
and buildings that are primarily used in the operation of BHF stores. We have guaranteed certain lease obligations of
licensee operators as part of our retail strategy. We also have guaranteed loans of certain of our licensees to finance
initial inventory packages for these stores. See Contractual Obligations and Commitments table above and Note 18 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for further discussion of
operating leases, lease guarantees and loan guarantees, including descriptions of the terms of such commitments and
methods used to mitigate risks associated with these arrangements.
Contingencies
We are involved in various claims and litigation as well as environmental matters, which arise in the normal course of
business. Although the final outcome of these legal and environmental matters cannot be determined, based on the facts
presently known, it is our opinion that the final resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our
financial position or future results of operations.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (“GAAP”) which requires that certain estimates and assumptions be made that affect the
amounts and disclosures reported in those financial statements and the related accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from these estimates and assumptions. We use our best judgment in valuing these estimates and may, as warranted,
solicit external advice. Estimates are based on current facts and circumstances, prior experience and other assumptions
believed to be reasonable. The following critical accounting policies, some of which are impacted significantly by
judgments, assumptions and estimates, affect our consolidated financial statements.
Consolidation – The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated
and its majority-owned subsidiaries for whom we have operating control. We also consolidate variable interest entities
for which we are the primary beneficiary.
Revenue Recognition - Revenue is recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership and title to the product have
transferred to the buyer. This generally occurs upon the shipment of goods to independent dealers or, in the case of
Company-owned retail stores, upon delivery to the customer. Our payment terms generally vary from 30 to 60 days. An
estimate for returns and allowances has been provided in recorded sales. The contracts with our licensee store owners do
not provide for any royalty or license fee to be paid to us.
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (“SAB 104”) outlines the four basic criteria for recognizing
revenue as follows: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred or services have been
rendered, (3) the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable, and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. SAB 104
further asserts that if collectibility of all or a portion of the revenue is not reasonably assured, revenue recognition should
be deferred until payment is received. During fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, there were four, seven and thirteen dealers,
respectively, for which these criteria were not met and therefore revenue was being recognized on a cost recovery basis.
As of November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, zero and two dealers, respectively, remained on the cost recovery
basis.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from
the inability of our customers to make required payments. Our accounts receivable reserves were $2,092 and $7,366 at
November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, respectively, representing 12.4% and 18.9% of our gross accounts
receivable balances at those dates, respectively. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on a review of specifically
identified customer accounts in addition to an overall aging analysis. We evaluate the collectibility of our receivables
from our licensees and other customers on a quarterly basis based on factors such as their financial condition, our
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collateral position, potential future plans with licensees and other similar factors. Our allowance for doubtful accounts
represents our best estimate of potential losses on our accounts and notes receivable and is adjusted accordingly based on
historical experience, current developments and present economic conditions and trends. In the current economic
environment, our historical experience with customers carries less weight than in previous years. The timeliness of a
licensee’s or customer’s ability to pay us can deteriorate at a much faster pace than in previous years. As such, despite
our best efforts, the ultimate precision with respect to our allowance for doubtful accounts is likely to be less when
compared to previous periods. Although actual losses have not differed materially from our previous estimates, future
losses could differ from our current estimates. Unforeseen events such as a licensee or customer bankruptcy filing could
have a material impact on our results of operations.
Long Term Notes Receivable – Previously, when in the ordinary course of business a licensee had substantial past due
amounts due to the Company, but was otherwise considered viable and likely to continue as a going concern, we may
have decided to move all or a portion of a licensee’s past due accounts receivable to a long-term interest-bearing note
receivable. We believed that the note receivable allowed the licensee to focus on keeping current and future amounts
current, while continuing to meet its financial obligations to us. We no longer believe this to be a prudent strategy and
do not plan to convert additional past due receivables into long-term interest bearing notes in the foreseeable future.
Some of these notes are collateralized by real estate. At the inception of the note receivable, we determine whether the
note bears a market rate of interest. In estimating a market rate of interest, we first consider factors such as licensee
capitalization, projected operating performance, the viability of the market in which the licensee operates and the
licensee’s operating history, including our cash receipts from the licensee, licensee sales and any underlying collateral.
For those licensees where there is a concern of collectibility, our estimated market rate of interest is based on certain
published high–yield bond indices. For those where collectibility is less of a concern, the estimated market rate of
interest is generally based on the prime rate. A discount on the note is recorded if we determine that the note bears an
interest rate below the market rate and a premium is recorded if we determine that the note bears an interest rate above
the market rate. We amortize the related note discount or premium over the contractual term of the note and cease
amortizing the discount to interest income when the present value of expected future cash flows is less than the carrying
value of the note. Interest income associated with the discount amortization is immaterial and is recorded in other loss,
net, in our consolidated statement of operations. On a quarterly basis we examine these notes for evidence of
impairment, considering factors such as licensee capitalization, projected operating performance, the viability of the
market in which the licensee operates and the licensee’s operating history, including our cash receipts from the licensee,
licensee sales and any underlying collateral. After considering these factors, should we believe that all or a portion of the
note receivable cannot or will not be paid, we record an impairment charge on the note using discounted cash flow
methods to determine the impairment charge. An impairment charge does not necessarily indicate that a loan has no
recovery or salvage value, but rather that, based on management’s judgment and the consideration of specific licensee
factors, it is more prudent than not to record an impairment charge. Our allowance for doubtful accounts and discounts
on notes receivable were $4,140 and $6,748 at November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, respectively, representing
68.8% and 45.2% of our gross notes receivable balances at those dates, respectively.
Inventories - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined for domestic furniture inventories
using the last-in, first-out method. The cost of imported inventories is determined on a first-in, first-out basis. We
estimate an inventory reserve for excess quantities and obsolete items based on specific identification and historical
write-offs, taking into account future demand and market conditions. If actual demand or market conditions in the future
are less favorable than those estimated, additional inventory write-downs may be required.
Valuation Allowance on Deferred Tax Assets –We evaluate our deferred income tax assets to determine if valuation
allowances are required or should be adjusted. A valuation allowance is established against our deferred tax assets based
on consideration of all available evidence, both positive and negative, using a “more likely than not” standard. This
assessment considers, among other matters, the nature, frequency and severity of recent losses, forecasts of future
profitability, the duration of statutory carryforward periods, our experience with tax attributes expiring unused and tax
planning alternatives. In making such judgments, significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively verified.
Investments and Marketable Securities – Investments and marketable securities are marked to market and recorded at
their fair value. We account for our investment in Fortress by marking it to market value each month based on the net
asset values provided by the fund manager, adjusted for estimated liquidity discounts. Unrealized holding gains and
losses, net of the related income tax effect, on available for sale securities are excluded from income and are reported as
other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses from securities classified as available for
sale are included in income and are determined using the specific identification method for ascertaining the cost of
18

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
securities sold. We also review our available for sale securities to determine whether a decline in fair value of a security
below the cost basis is other than temporary. Should the decline be considered other than temporary, we write down the
cost of the security and include the loss in current earnings. In determining whether a decline is other than temporary,
we consider such factors as the significance of the decline as compared to the cost basis, the current state of the financial
markets and the economy, the length of time for which there has been an unrealized loss and the relevant information
regarding the operations of the investee.
Goodwill – Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the value assigned to tangible assets and liabilities
and identifiable intangible assets of businesses acquired. The acquisition of assets and liabilities and any resulting
goodwill is allocated to the respective reporting unit; Wholesale, Retail or Real Estate/Investments. We review goodwill
at the reporting unit level annually for impairment or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that assets
might be impaired.
The goodwill impairment test consists of a two-step process, if necessary. Effective with our annual assessment of
goodwill performed as of the beginning of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011, we have adopted the provisions of ASU No.
2011-08, which updates the guidance in ASC Topic 350, Intangibles – Goodwill & Other. Per ASC Topic 350, as
amended by ASU 2011-08, we first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the
two-step goodwill impairment test described in ASC Topic 350. The more-likely-than-not threshold is defined as having
a likelihood of more than 50 percent. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, we determine that it is not
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step
impairment test is unnecessary and our goodwill is considered to be unimpaired. However, if based on our qualitative
assessment we conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, we will proceed with performing the two-step process.
The first step compares the carrying value of each reporting unit that has goodwill with the estimated fair value of the
respective reporting unit. Should the carrying value of a reporting unit be in excess of the estimated fair value of that
reporting unit, the second step is performed whereby we must calculate the implied fair value of goodwill by deducting
the fair value of all tangible and intangible net assets of the reporting unit from the fair value of the reporting unit. This
second step represents a hypothetical purchase price allocation as if we had acquired the reporting unit on that
date. Our impairment methodology uses a discounted cash flow analysis requiring certain assumptions and estimates to
be made regarding future profitability of the reporting unit and industry economic factors. While we believe such
assumptions and estimates are reasonable, the actual results may differ materially from the projected amounts.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets - We periodically evaluate whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate
long-lived assets may not be recoverable or that the remaining useful life may warrant revision. When such events or
circumstances are present, we assess the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value
will be recovered through the expected undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset. In the event
the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss
equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is recorded.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, which updates the guidance in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, related to disclosures about fair value measurements. New disclosures will require
entities to disclose separately the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements and to describe the reasons for the transfers; and to present separately in the reconciliation for fair value
measurements in Level 3 information about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on a gross basis rather than as
one net amount. The ASU also amends ASC Subtopic 820-10 to clarify certain existing disclosures regarding the level
of disaggregation at which fair value measurements are provided for each class of assets and liabilities; and disclosures
about inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair value for both recurring and nonrecurring fair value
measurements that fall in either Level 2 or Level 3. The new disclosures and clarifications of existing disclosures are
effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures about
purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements, which become
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010. We implemented the new disclosures and clarifications of
existing disclosures beginning with our second quarter of fiscal 2010, and the disclosures about purchases, sales,
issuances and settlements in the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements will be implemented beginning in our
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first quarter of fiscal 2012. The adoption of this guidance has not had, and is not expected to have, a material impact on
our financial position or results of operations.
In July 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-20, which updates the guidance in ASC Topic 310, Receivables, related to
disclosures about the credit quality of financing receivables and the allowance for credit losses. The new disclosures
require disaggregated information related to financing receivables and include for each class of financing receivables,
among other things: a rollforward for the allowance for credit losses, credit quality information, impaired loan
information, modification information, non-accrual and past-due information. The disclosures as of the end of a
reporting period are effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending on or after December 15, 2010. The
disclosures about activity that occurs during a reporting period are effective for interim and annual reporting periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2010. In January 2011, ASU No. 2011-01 delayed the effective date for certain
requirements of ASU 2010-20 regarding disclosures about troubled debt restructurings until guidance could be issued as
to what constitutes a troubled debt restructuring. In April 2011, ASU 2011-02 was issued to provide such guidance and
requires disclosures about troubled debt restructurings to become effective for periods beginning on or after June 15,
2011. Accordingly, we have implemented all of the guidance of ASU 2010-20 during fiscal 2011. The adoption of this
guidance has not had a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-29, which updates the guidance in ASC Topic 805, Business
Combinations. The objective of ASU 2010-29 is to address diversity in practice about the interpretation of the pro forma
revenue and earnings disclosure requirements for business combinations. The amendments in ASU 2010-29 specify that
if a public entity presents comparative financial statements, the entity should disclose revenue and earnings of the
combined entity as though the business combination(s) that occurred during the current year had occurred as of the
beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period only. The amendments also expand the supplemental pro
forma disclosures to include a description of the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments
directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro forma revenue and earnings. The
amendments affect any public entity as defined by ASC 805 that enters into business combinations that are material on
an individual or aggregate basis. This guidance will become effective for us for acquisitions occurring on or after the
beginning of our 2012 fiscal year. We do not expect the adoption of this guidance will have a material impact upon our
financial position or results of operations.
In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04, which updated the guidance in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value
Measurement. The amendments in this Update generally represent clarifications of Topic 820, but also include some
instances where a particular principle or requirement for measuring fair value or disclosing information about fair value
measurements has changed. This Update results in common principles and requirements for measuring fair value and for
disclosing information about fair value measurements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and International Financial
Reporting Standards. The amendments in this Update are to be applied prospectively. For public entities, the
amendments are effective during interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011, and early application is
not permitted. This guidance will become effective for us as of the beginning of our second quarter of fiscal 2012. The
adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, which updated the guidance in ASC Topic 220, Comprehensive
Income. Under the amendments in this Update, an entity has the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the
components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement
of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. In both choices, an entity is required to present
each component of net income along with total net income, each component of other comprehensive income along with a
total for other comprehensive income, and a total amount for comprehensive income. This Update eliminates the option
to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders' equity.
The amendments in this Update do not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when
an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income. The amendments in this Update should be
applied retrospectively. For public entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those years, beginning after December 15, 2011, and early application is permitted. In December of 2011, the FASB
issued ASU No. 2011-12, which defers only those provisions within ASU 2011-05 pertaining to reclassification
adjustments out of accumulated other comprehensive income. This guidance, except for those provisions deferred by
ASU 2011-12, will become effective for us as of the beginning of our 2013 fiscal year. The adoption of this guidance
will not have an impact on our financial position or results of operations.
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In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-08, which updates the guidance in ASC Topic 350, Intangibles –
Goodwill & Other. The amendments in ASU 2011-08 affect all entities that have goodwill reported in their financial
statements. The amendments in ASU 2011-08 permit an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying amount as a basis for determining
whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test described in ASC Topic 350. The more-likelythan-not threshold is defined as having a likelihood of more than 50 percent. If, after assessing the totality of events or
circumstances, an entity determines that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is unnecessary. The amendments in this Update include
examples of events and circumstances that an entity should consider in evaluating whether it is more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, however the examples are not intended to be allinclusive and an entity my identify other relevant events and circumstances to consider in making the determination. The
examples in this Update supersede the previous examples under ASC Topic 350 of events and circumstances an entity
should consider in determining whether it should test for impairment between annual tests, and also supersede the
examples of events and circumstances that an entity having a reporting unit with a zero or negative should consider in
determining whether to perform the second step of the impairment test. Under the amendments in this Update, an entity
is no longer permitted to carry forward its detailed calculation of a reporting unit’s fair value from a prior year as
previously permitted under ASC Topic 350. As permitted by ASU 2011-08, we have adopted the provisions of this
Update effective for our fiscal 2011 annual test for goodwill impairment, performed as of the beginning of the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2011. The adoption of this Update did not have a material impact upon our financial positions or results
of operations.
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to market risk for changes in market prices of our marketable securities. At November 26, 2011, we had
$2,939 in marketable securities which consisted of a portfolio of bond funds and fixed income securities. Maturity dates
on the fixed income securities in the portfolio range from one to twenty years.
We are exposed to market risk from changes in the value of foreign currencies. Substantially all of our imports purchased
outside of North America are denominated in U.S. dollars. Therefore, we believe that gains or losses resulting from
changes in the value of foreign currencies relating to foreign purchases not denominated in U.S. dollars would not be
material to our results from operations in fiscal 2011.
We are exposed to market risk from changes in the cost of raw materials used in our manufacturing processes,
principally wood, woven fabric, and foam products. A recovery in home construction could result in increases in wood
and fabric costs from current levels, and the cost of foam products, which are petroleum-based, is sensitive to changes in
the price of oil.
We have potential exposure to market risk related to the current weakness in the commercial real estate market. Our
retail real estate holdings of $16,257 for licensee-operated stores as well as our holdings of $26,774 for Company-owned
stores at November 26, 2011 could suffer significant impairment in value if we are forced to close additional stores and
sell or lease the related properties in the current market. Additionally, if we are required to assume responsibility for
payment under the $2,515 of lease obligations we have guaranteed on behalf of licensees as of November 26, 2011, we
may not be able to secure sufficient sub-lease income in the current market to offset the payments required under the
guarantees.
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As used herein, unless the context otherwise requires, “Bassett,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to
Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated and its subsidiaries. References to 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007 mean
the fiscal years ended November 26, 2011, November 27, 2010, November 28, 2009, November 29, 2008 and November
24, 2007. Please note that fiscal 2008 contained 53 weeks.
SAFE-HARBOR, FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This discussion contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 with respect to the financial condition, results of operations and business of Bassett Furniture
Industries, Incorporated and subsidiaries. Such forward-looking statements are identified by use of forward-looking
words such as “anticipates”, “believes”, “plans”, “estimates”, “expects”, “aimed” and “intends” or words or phrases of
similar expression. These forward-looking statements involve certain risks and uncertainties. No assurance can be given
that any such matters will be realized. Important factors, which should be read in conjunction with Item 1A “Risk
Factors”, that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by such forward-looking
statements include:


competitive conditions in the home furnishings industry



general economic conditions



overall retail traffic levels and consumer demand for home furnishings



ability of our customers and consumers to obtain credit



Bassett store openings



store closings and the profitability of the stores (independent licensees and Company-owned retail stores)



ability to implement our Company-owned retail strategies and realize the benefits from such strategies as
they are implemented



fluctuations in the cost and availability of raw materials, labor and sourced products



results of marketing and advertising campaigns



information and technology advances



ability to execute global sourcing strategies



future tax legislation, or regulatory or judicial positions



ability to efficiently manage the import supply chain to minimize business interruption
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated and Subsidiaries
November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
2011
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
$
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,092 and $7,366
as of November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, respectively
Marketable Securities
Inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Long-term Assets
Investments
Retail real estate
Notes receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and discounts of $4,140
and $6,748 as of November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, respectively
Other
Total long-term assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Customer deposits
Dividends payable
Other accrued liabilities
Current portion of real estate notes payable
Total current liabilities

$

$

Long-term liabilities
Post employment benefit obligations
Real estate notes payable
Distributions in excess of affiliate earnings
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities

2010

69,601 $

11,071

14,756
2,939
45,129
7,778
140,203

31,621
41,810
6,969
91,471

49,946

46,250

806
16,257

15,111
27,513

1,802
14,160
33,025
223,174 $

7,508
9,464
59,596
197,317

18,821 $
7,201
9,238
6,063
10,302
202
51,827

24,893
6,652
9,171
11,594
9,521
61,831

11,226
3,662
4,024
18,912

11,004
4,295
7,356
6,526
29,181

Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $5 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; issued and
outstanding 11,342,332 in 2011 and 11,558,974 in 2010
Retained earnings
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

56,712
96,331
(608)
152,435
223,174 $

57,795
48,459
478
(427)
106,305
197,317

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these balance sheets.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated and Subsidiaries
For the years ended November 26, 2011, November 27, 2010, and November 28, 2009
(In thousands, except per share data)
2011

2010

2009

253,208 $
125,642
127,566

235,254 $
122,566
112,688

232,722
129,882
102,840

122,023
13,490
6,447
(765)
2,500
3,728
(19,857)

110,808
6,567
(488)
(4,199)

103,789
15,205
(1,627)
2,987
2,434
(19,948)

Gain on sale of affiliate
Income (loss) from investments
Other than temporary impairment of investments
Income from unconsolidated affiliated companies, net
Interest expense
Retail real estate impairment charges
Other loss, net
Income (loss) before income taxes

85,542
163
1,840
(912)
(3,953)
(3,072)
59,751

2,325
4,700
(1,994)
(3,040)
(2,208)

(1,966)
(1,255)
5,067
(2,639)
(3,712)
(24,453)

Income tax benefit (provision)

(4,409)

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit

$

Selling, general and administrative expenses excluding bad debt and notes
receivable valuation charges
Bad debt and notes receivable valuation charges
Licensee debt cancellation charges
Income from Continued Dumping & Subsidy Offset Act
Restructuring and impairment charges
Lease exit costs
Loss from operations

206

1,754

Net income (loss)

$

55,342 $

(2,002) $

(22,699)

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic income (loss) per share

$

4.84 $

(0.17) $

(1.99)

$

4.79 $

(0.17) $

(1.99)

Diluted income (loss) per share

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated and Subsidiaries
For the years ended November 26, 2011, November 27, 2010, and November 28, 2009
(In thousands)
2011
Operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Equity in undistributed income of investments and unconsolidated
affiliated companies
Provision for restructuring and asset impairment charges
Licensee debt cancellation charges
Lease exit costs
Provision for lease and loan guarantees
Provision for losses on accounts and notes receivable
Other than temporary impairment of investments
Gain on sale of equity securities
Gain on mortgage settlement
Gain on sale of affiliate
Impairment and lease exit charges on retail real estate
Other, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

Investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sales and condemnation of property and equipment
Acquisition of retail licensee stores, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale of affiliate
Release of collateral restrictions on cash equivalents
Proceeds from sales of investments
Purchases of investments
Dividends from affiliates
Equity contribution to affiliate
Net cash received on licensee notes
Net cash provided by investing activities
Financing activities:
Net repayments under revolving credit facility
Repayments of real estate notes payable
Repayments of other notes
Issuance of common stock
Repurchases of common stock
Cash dividends
Net cash used in financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

$

55,342 $

2010
(2,002) $

(22,699)

5,514

5,966

6,604

(1,840)
2,500
6,447
2,228
1,283
13,490
(1,305)
(85,542)
4,790
450

(4,737)
1,407
6,567
(2,024)
256

(2,319)
2,587
2,434
2,834
15,205
1,255
(764)
(2,364)

1,034
299
2,300
(12,421)
(5,431)

(4,467)
(5,443)
5,262
7,003
7,788

(6,744)
11,704
3,451
(7,064)
4,120

(4,168)
211
69,152
11,240
3,297
(3,132)
3,756
(980)
127
79,503

(2,013)
4,247
(378)
9,101
(8,851)
937
494
3,537

(1,096)
129
(481)
26,234
(6,939)
3,847
645
22,339

(8,647)
(3,406)
170
(2,964)
(695)
(15,542)
58,530
11,071
69,601 $

(15,000)
(7,530)
(1,087)
142
(23,475)
(12,150)
23,221
11,071 $

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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2009

(4,000)
(812)
(1,081)
95
(75)
(1,142)
(7,015)
19,444
3,777
23,221

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated and Subsidiaries
For the years ended November 26, 2011. November 27, 2010, and November 28, 2009
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
Additional
paid-in
capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Balance, November 29, 2008
Comprehensive income (loss)
Net loss
Actuarial adjustment to supplemental
executive retirement defined
benefit plan
Net change in unrealized holding
gains
Total comprehensive loss
Issuance of common stock
Purchase and retirement of common
stock
Stock-based compensation
Balance, November 28, 2009
Comprehensive loss
Net loss
Actuarial adjustment to supplemental
executive retirement defined
benefit plan
Net change in unrealized holding
gains
Total comprehensive loss
Issuance of common stock
Purchase and retirement of common
stock
Stock-based compensation
Balance, November 27, 2010
Comprehensive income
Net income
Actuarial adjustment to supplemental
executive retirement defined
benefit plan
Net change in unrealized holding
gains
Total comprehensive income
Regular dividends ($0.10 per share)
Special dividend ($0.50 per share)
Issuance of common stock
Purchase and retirement of common
stock
Stock-based compensation
Balance, November 26, 2011

11,420,431

$

57,102

$

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Retained
earnings

346

$

73,160

$

(22,699)

Total

(429) $

194,852

-

(22,699)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

125

-

-

-

-

2,422

95,185

476

(277)

-

-

2,422
(20,152)
199

(60,900)
-

(304)
-

229
183

-

-

(75)
183

50,461

2,118

125

11,454,716

57,274

481

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(666)

(666)

-

-

-

-

(1,879)

104,258

521

(1,879)
(4,547)
142

-

(2,002)

-

110,334

(2,002)

(379)

-

-

-

376

-

-

11,558,974

57,795

478

48,459

-

-

-

55,342

-

-

-

-

(133)

(133)

-

-

-

-

(48)

154,158

771

(370,800)
11,342,332

(1,854)
$

56,712

$

(427)

-

106,305

55,342

(506)

(1,092)
(5,665)
-

-

(48)
55,161
(1,092)
(5,665)
265

(398)
426

(713)
-

-

(2,965)
426

-

$

96,331

$

(608) $

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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376

152,435

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
1. Description of Business
Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “Bassett”, “we”, “our”, the
“Company”) based in Bassett, Va., is a leading manufacturer, marketer and retailer of branded home furnishings.
Bassett’s full range of furniture products and accessories, designed to provide quality, style and value, are sold through
an exclusive nation-wide network of 88 retail stores known as Bassett Home Furnishings (referred to as “BHF”) as well
as other multi-line furniture stores. Of the 88 stores, the Company owns and operates 49 stores (“Company-owned retail
stores”) with 39 independently owned (“licensee operated”).
The Company sourced approximately 52% of its wholesale products to be distributed through the store network from
various countries, with the remaining volume produced at its two domestic manufacturing facilities.
2. Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
The Company’s fiscal year ends on the last Saturday in November, which periodically results in a 53-week year. Fiscal
2011, 2010, and 2009 each contained 52 weeks. The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Bassett
Furniture Industries, Incorporated and our majority-owned subsidiaries for whom we have operating control. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP"). Unless otherwise
indicated, references in the Consolidated Financial Statements to fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 are to Bassett's fiscal year
ended November 26, 2011, November 27, 2010 and November 28, 2009, respectively. References to the “ASC”
included hereinafter refer to the Accounting Standards Codification established by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board as the source of authoritative GAAP.
For comparative purposes, certain amounts in the 2010 and 2009 financial statements have been reclassified to conform
to the 2011 presentation.
The equity method of accounting is used for our investments in affiliated companies in which we exercise significant
influence but do not maintain operating control. Consolidated net income or net loss includes our proportionate share of
the net income or net loss of these companies.
We analyzed our licensees under the requirements for variable interest entities (“VIEs”). All of these licensees operate as
BHF stores and are furniture retailers. We sell furniture to these licensees, and in some cases have extended credit
beyond normal terms, made lease guarantees, guaranteed loans, or loaned directly to the licensees. We have recorded
reserves for potential exposures related to these licensees. See Note 18 for disclosure of leases, lease guarantees and loan
guarantees. Based on financial projections and best available information, all licensees have sufficient equity to carry out
their principal operating activities without subordinated financial support. Furthermore, we believe that the power to
direct the activities that most significantly impact the licensees’ operating performance continues to lie with the
ownership of the licensee dealers. Our rights to assume control over or otherwise influence the licensees’ significant
activities only exist pursuant to our license and security agreements and are in the nature of protective rights as
contemplated under ASC Topic 810. We completed our assessment for other potential VIEs, and concluded that there
were none. We will continue to reassess the status of potential VIEs including when facts and circumstances surrounding
each potential VIE change.

27

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
During the first and second quarters of fiscal 2009, the Staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)
performed a review of our Form 10-K for the year ended November 29, 2008 and subsequently our Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended February 28, 2010. Among other items, the Staff identified issues with our initial valuation of notes
receivable due from our licensees (primarily for amounts converted from past due accounts receivable due from them)
and our methodology for determining reserves for our accounts receivable, notes receivable, and loan guarantees. As a
result of the SEC’s comments, we reviewed our accounting policies and processes in these areas previously mentioned
and determined that we should have recorded lower values for certain of our notes receivable upon inception and,
subsequently, recorded additional reserves on those notes due to an error in how we determined an appropriate market
rate of interest for those notes. In addition, we also concluded that we should have recognized revenue for certain
customers on a cost recovery basis for shipments beginning in the first quarter of 2009 and that additional reserves for
loan guarantees should be established. Therefore, we recorded an additional $3,280 of net charges in the quarter ended
February 28, 2009 to account for these lower note values, increased reserves and reduced revenue and filed an amended
Form 10-Q for the quarter then ended. Of the amount recorded, $1,936 related to periods prior to the quarter ended
February 28, 2009. However, based on our consideration of the underlying quantitative and qualitative factors
surrounding the prior period errors, the effects on the previous annual and interim periods were determined to be
immaterial and, therefore, periods prior to the quarter ended February 28, 2009 were not restated.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Some of the more significant estimates include allowances for doubtful accounts, valuation of
inventories, valuation of deferred taxes, sales returns, loan and lease guarantees and insurance reserves. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership and title to the product have transferred to the buyer.
This occurs upon the shipment of goods to independent dealers or, in the case of Company-owned retail stores, upon
delivery to the customer. We offer terms varying from 30 to 60 days for wholesale customers. Estimates for returns and
allowances for advertising and promotional arrangements have been recorded as a reduction to revenue. The contracts
with our licensee store owners do not provide for any royalty or license fee to be paid to us. Revenue is reported net of
any taxes collected.
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (“SAB 104”) outlines the four basic criteria for recognizing
revenue as follows: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred or services have been
rendered, (3) the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable, and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. SAB 104
further asserts that if collectability of all or a portion of the revenue is not reasonably assured, revenue recognition should
be deferred until payment is received. During fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 there were four, seven and thirteen dealers,
respectively, for which these criteria were not met and therefore revenue was being recognized on a cost recovery basis.
As of November 26, 2011, November 27, 2010, and November 28, 2009 there were zero, two, and seven dealers,
respectively, that remained on the cost recovery basis. The cumulative amount of deferred gross profit is carried in the
accompanying balance sheets as a reduction of gross accounts receivable until payment is received. The following table
details the reduction of gross accounts receivable related to deferred gross profit:

Reduction of gross accounts receivable
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November 26,
2011

November 27,
2010

$

$

-

November 28,
2009

494 $

721

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
The following table details the total revenue and cost deferred for each fiscal year, prior to any subsequent recognition
due to the transaction meeting the revenue recognition requirements:
2011

2010

2009

Revenue deferred

$

1,678 $

947 $

7,149

Cost deferred

$

1,175 $

663 $

5,004

Net sales and cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations exclude the full amounts of the deferred revenue
and cost shown above.
Cash Equivalents
The Company considers cash on hand, demand deposits in banks and all highly liquid investments with an original
maturity of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents.
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
In addition to the amounts paid, net of cash acquired, for the acquisition of licensee stores reported under investing
activities in our consolidated statements of cash flows, the majority of such acquisitions were funded primarily through
non-cash transactions in which receivables due from the licensees were settled in exchange for certain inventory and
property and equipment of the licensees as well as the assumption of certain liabilities. The value of the non-cash
portion of such transactions was $2,298, $2,751 and $1,933 for 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.
Accounts Receivable
Substantially all of our trade accounts receivable is due from customers located within the United States. We maintain an
allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required
payments. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on a review of specifically identified accounts in addition to an
overall aging analysis. Judgments are made with respect to the collectibility of accounts receivable based on historical
experience and current economic trends. Actual losses could differ from those estimates.
Notes Receivable
Previously, when in the ordinary course of business a licensee had substantial past due amounts due to the Company, but
was otherwise considered viable and likely to continue as a going concern, we may have decided to move all or a portion
of a licensee’s past due accounts receivable to a long-term interest-bearing note receivable. We believed that the note
receivable allowed the licensee to focus on keeping current and future amounts current, while continuing to meet its
financial obligations to us. This is no longer our policy, and we do not plan to convert additional past due receivables
into long-term interest bearing notes in the foreseeable future. While the majority of our notes receivable were issued as
conversions of existing accounts receivable, some were issued to assist licensees in opening or acquiring new stores in
underserved markets, which we believed would benefit both the licensee and the Company. Some of these notes are
collateralized by real estate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
At the inception of the note receivable, we determine whether the note bears a market rate of interest. In estimating a
market rate of interest, we first consider factors such as licensee capitalization, projected operating performance, the
viability of the market in which the licensee operates and the licensee’s operating history, including our cash receipts
from the licensee, licensee sales and any underlying collateral. For those licensees where there is a concern of
collectibility, our estimated market rate of interest is based on certain published high–yield bond indices. For those
where collectibility is less of a concern, the estimated market rate of interest is generally based on the prime rate plus an
applicable margin. A discount on the note is recorded if we determine that the note bears an interest rate below the
market rate and a premium is recorded if we determine that the note bears an interest rate above the market rate. We
amortize the related note discount or premium over the contractual term of the note and cease amortizing the discount to
interest income when the present value of expected future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the note. Interest
income associated with the discount amortization is immaterial and is recorded in other loss, net, in our consolidated
statement of operations.
We examine notes receivable for evidence of impairment, considering factors such as licensee capitalization, projected
operating performance, the viability of the market in which the licensee operates and the licensee’s operating history,
including our cash receipts from the licensee, licensee sales and any underlying collateral. After considering these
factors, should we believe that all or a portion of the expected cash flows attributable to the note receivable will not be
received, we record an impairment charge on the note by estimating future cash flows and discounting them at the
effective interest rate. Any difference between the estimated discounted cash flows and the carrying value of the note is
recorded as an increase to the allowance for doubtful accounts. We do not accrue interest income due on notes for which
the licensee is unable to make interest payments.
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Major Customers
Financial instruments that subject us to credit risk consist primarily of investments, accounts and notes receivable and
financial guarantees. Investments are managed within established guidelines to mitigate risks. Accounts and notes
receivable and financial guarantees subject us to credit risk partially due to the concentration of amounts due from and
guaranteed on behalf of independent licensee customers. At November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, our aggregate
exposure from receivables and guarantees related to customers consisted of the following:

Accounts receivable, net of allowances (Note 4)
Notes receivable, net of allowances (Note 6)
Contingent obligations under lease and loan guarantees, less amounts
recognized (Note 18)
Total credit risk exposure related to customers

$

$

2011
14,756
1,877
2,193
18,826

$

$

2010
31,621
8,166
5,848
45,635

At November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, approximately 20% of the aggregate risk exposure, net of reserves,
shown above was attributable to two licensees accounting for approximately 10% each. In fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009,
no customer accounted for more than 10% of total net sales.
We have no foreign manufacturing or retail operations. We define export sales as sales to any country or territory other
than the United States or its territories or possessions. Our export sales were approximately $6,598, $5,350, and $3,380
in fiscal 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.
Inventories
Inventories (retail merchandise, finished goods, work in process and raw materials) are stated at the lower of cost or
market. Cost is determined for domestic manufactured furniture inventories using the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method
because we believe this methodology provides better matching of revenue and expenses. The cost of imported
inventories is determined on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) basis. Inventories accounted for under the LIFO method
represented 15% and 18% of total inventory before reserves at November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010,
respectively. We estimate inventory reserves for excess quantities and obsolete items based on specific identification and
historical write-offs, taking into account future demand and market conditions. If actual demand or market conditions in
the future are less favorable than those estimated, additional inventory write-downs may be required.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is comprised of all land, buildings and leasehold improvements and machinery and equipment
used in the manufacturing and warehousing of furniture, our Company-owned retail operations and the administration of
the wholesale and Company-owned retail operations. This property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation is computed over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets utilizing the straight-line
method. Buildings and improvements are generally depreciated over a period of 10 to 39 years. Machinery and
equipment are generally depreciated over a period of 5 to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized based on the
underlying lease term, or the asset’s estimated useful life, whichever is shorter.
Retail Real Estate
Retail real estate is comprised of owned and leased properties utilized by licensee operated BHF stores. These properties
are located in high traffic, upscale locations that are normally occupied by large successful national retailers. This real
estate is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and is depreciated over the useful lives of the respective assets
utilizing the straight line method. Buildings and improvements are generally depreciated over a period of 10 to 39
years. Leasehold improvements are amortized based on the underlying lease term, or the asset’s estimated useful life,
whichever is shorter. As of November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, the cost of retail real estate included land
totaling $5,731 and $8,011, respectively, and building and leasehold improvements of $15,431 and $27,843,
respectively. As of November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, accumulated depreciation of retail real estate was
$4,905 and $8,341, respectively. Depreciation expense was $876, $1,306, and $1,353 in fiscal 2011, 2010, and 2009,
respectively. Impairment charges related to retail real estate totaled $3,953 for 2011 and are included in retail real estate
impairment charges in other income, a component of non-operating expense in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations. There were no retail real estate impairment charges in 2009 and 2010.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of consideration given over the fair value of the tangible assets and
liabilities and identifiable intangible assets of businesses acquired. The acquisition of assets and liabilities and the
resulting goodwill is allocated to the respective reporting unit: Wholesale, Retail or Real Estate/Investments. We review
goodwill at the reporting unit level annually for impairment or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that
assets might be impaired.
The goodwill impairment test consists of a two-step process, if necessary. Effective with our annual assessment of
goodwill performed as of the beginning of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011, we have adopted the provisions of ASU No.
2011-08, which updates the guidance in ASC Topic 350, Intangibles – Goodwill & Other. Per ASC Topic 350, as
amended by ASU 2011-08, we first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the
two-step goodwill impairment test described in ASC Topic 350. The more-likely-than-not threshold is defined as having
a likelihood of more than 50 percent. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, we determine that it is not
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step
impairment test is unnecessary and our goodwill is considered to be unimpaired. However, if based on our qualitative
assessment we conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, we will proceed with performing the two-step process.
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(In thousands, except share and per share data)
The first step compares the carrying value of each reporting unit that has goodwill with the estimated fair value of the
respective reporting unit. Should the carrying value of a reporting unit be in excess of the estimated fair value of that
reporting unit, the second step is performed whereby we must calculate the implied fair value of goodwill by deducting
the fair value of all tangible and intangible net assets of the reporting unit from the fair value of the reporting unit. This
second step represents a hypothetical application of the acquisition method of accounting as if we had acquired the
reporting unit on that date. Our impairment methodology uses a discounted cash flow analysis requiring certain
assumptions and estimates to be made regarding future profitability of the reporting unit and industry economic
factors. While we believe such assumptions and estimates are reasonable, the actual results may differ materially from
the projected amounts. As of November 26, 2011, goodwill of $435, resulting from the acquisition of the Raleigh, North
Carolina store in November of 2010 (see Note 10) is included in other assets in the accompanying balance sheet. Based
on our qualitative assessment as described above, we have concluded that this goodwill is not impaired. As of November
28, 2009, all goodwill recognized prior to that date had been fully impaired.
Impairment of Long Lived Assets
We periodically evaluate whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate long-lived assets may not be
recoverable or that the remaining useful life may warrant revision. When such events or circumstances are present, we
assess the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the
expected undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. In the event the sum
of the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss equal to
the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is recorded. Fair value is determined based on discounted cash
flows or appraised values depending on the nature of the assets. The long-term nature of these assets requires the
estimation of cash inflows and outflows several years into the future.
Investments
Investments consist of a portfolio of marketable securities and our investment in the Fortress Value Recovery Fund I,
LLC (“Fortress”), formerly part of the Bassett Industries Alternative Asset Fund L.P. (“Alternative Asset Fund”).
Marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale and marked to market and recorded at their fair value. These
marketable securities are held in the custody of two major financial institutions. Our investment in Fortress is marked to
market based upon the net asset values provided by the fund manager, adjusted for estimated liquidity discounts with the
resultant difference from the prior valuation included in income (loss) from investments in the accompanying statements
of operations. Unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the related income tax effect, on available-for-sale securities
are excluded from income and are reported as other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and
losses from securities classified as available-for-sale are included in income and are determined using the specific
identification method for ascertaining the cost of securities sold.
We review our available-for-sale securities to determine whether a decline in fair value of a security below the cost basis
is other than temporary. Should the decline be considered other than temporary, we write-down the cost of the security
and include the loss in current earnings. In determining whether a decline is other than temporary, we consider factors
such as the significance of the decline as compared to the cost basis, the current state of the financial markets and the
economy, the length of time for which there has been an unrealized loss and the relevant information regarding the
operations of the investee.
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Income Taxes
We account for income taxes under the liability method which requires that we recognize deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amount of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to
be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in
the period that includes the enactment date. In addition, significant judgment is required in evaluating our federal, state
and foreign tax positions and in the determination of our tax provision. Despite our belief that our liability for
unrecognized tax benefits is adequate, it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of the resolution of
any particular tax matters. We may adjust these liabilities as relevant circumstances evolve, such as guidance from the
relevant tax authority or our tax advisors, or resolution of issues in the courts. These adjustments are recognized as a
component of income tax expense in the period in which they are identified.
We evaluate our deferred income tax assets to determine if valuation allowances are required or should be adjusted. A
valuation allowance is established against our deferred tax assets based on consideration of all available evidence, both
positive and negative, using a “more likely than not” standard. This assessment considers, among other matters, the
nature, frequency and severity of recent losses, forecasts of future profitability, the duration of statutory carryforward
periods, our experience with tax attributes expiring unused and tax planning alternatives. In making such judgments,
significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively verified. See Note 12 - Income Taxes.
Shipping and Handling Costs
Costs incurred to deliver wholesale merchandise to customers are recorded in selling, general and administrative expense
and totaled $13,680, $13,308, and $13,240 for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Costs incurred to deliver retail
merchandise to customers are also recorded in selling, general and administrative expense and totaled $5,218, $4,145,
and $3,226 for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Advertising
Costs incurred for producing and distributing advertising and advertising materials are expensed when incurred and are
included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Advertising costs totaled $10,399, $8,462, and $7,868 in fiscal
2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.
Business Insurance Reserves
We have self-funded insurance programs in place to cover health insurance claims and workers’ compensation claims
which arose prior to June 2011. Commencing June 1, 2011, we converted to a guaranteed cost program for workers’
compensation. These insurance programs are subject to various stop-loss limitations and are partially re-insured through
a captive insurance program. We accrue estimated losses using historical loss experience. Although we believe that the
insurance reserves are adequate, the reserve estimates are based on historical experience, which may not be indicative of
current and future losses. We adjust insurance reserves, as needed, in the event that future loss experience differs from
historical loss patterns.
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Directors’ Charitable Award Program
In 1992, we established the Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated Directors’ Charitable Award Program (the
“Program”), under which each eligible director of the Company could recommend that the Company make a donation of
up to $500 to an eligible charity selected by the director. The donations are to be made in the director’s name, in ten
equal annual installments, with the first installment to be made as soon as practicable after the director’s death. No new
directors have been allowed to participate in the program since 1996, and our Board of Directors may, at any time,
terminate the program and cease making the designated contributions. We elected to fund 100% of the designated
contributions under the Program with life insurance policies covering the participating directors. The participating
directors are paired under second-to-die policies whereby the death benefit for both directors is not received until the
second of the pair is deceased. Contributions made on behalf of the first paired director to die are charged to an asset
until the death benefits are received at the time of the second director’s death. At that time, the portion of the death
benefit attributable to the second director’s designated contributions is recorded as a liability against which the remaining
contribution installments are charged as paid. At November 26, 2011, there were remaining designated future
contributions totaling $6,900 associated with 15 current and former directors, of which $900 relates to three deceased
directors for which installment payments have commenced. The total death benefit on the life insurance in force at
November 26, 2011 is $7,500. All premiums required for the life insurance were paid in prior years and no additional
premium payments will be required to keep the policies in force. The net asset representing charitable contributions
made in advance of death benefits to be received and the cash surrender value of the related life insurance were $600 and
$1,637, respectively, at November 26, 2011, and $450 and $1,677, respectively, at November 27, 2010. Both amounts
are included in other assets in the accompanying balance sheets.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, which updates the guidance in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, related to disclosures about fair value measurements. New disclosures will require
entities to disclose separately the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements and to describe the reasons for the transfers; and to present separately in the reconciliation for fair value
measurements in Level 3 information about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on a gross basis rather than as
one net amount. The ASU also amends ASC Subtopic 820-10 to clarify certain existing disclosures regarding the level
of disaggregation at which fair value measurements are provided for each class of assets and liabilities; and disclosures
about inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair value for both recurring and nonrecurring fair value
measurements that fall in either Level 2 or Level 3. The new disclosures and clarifications of existing disclosures were
effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures about
purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements, which become
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010. We implemented the new disclosures and clarifications of
existing disclosures beginning with our second quarter of fiscal 2010, and the disclosures about purchases, sales,
issuances and settlements in the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements will be implemented beginning in our
first quarter of fiscal 2012. The adoption of this guidance has not had, and is not expected to have, a material impact on
our financial position or results of operations.
In July 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-20, which updates the guidance in ASC Topic 310, Receivables, related to
disclosures about the credit quality of financing receivables and the allowance for credit losses. The new disclosures
require disaggregated information related to financing receivables and include for each class of financing receivables,
among other things: a rollforward for the allowance for credit losses, credit quality information, impaired loan
information, modification information, non-accrual and past-due information. The disclosures as of the end of a
reporting period are effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending on or after December 15, 2010. The
disclosures about activity that occurs during a reporting period are effective for interim and annual reporting periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2010. In January 2011, ASU No. 2011-01 delayed the effective date for certain
requirements of ASU 2010-20 regarding disclosures about troubled debt restructurings until guidance could be issued as
to what constitutes a troubled debt restructuring. In April 2011, ASU 2011-02 was issued to provide such guidance and
requires disclosures about troubled debt restructurings to become effective for periods beginning on or after June 15,
2011. Accordingly, we have implemented all of the guidance of ASU 2010-20 during fiscal 2011. The adoption of this
guidance has not had a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
34

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-29, which updates the guidance in ASC Topic 805, Business
Combinations. The objective of ASU 2010-29 is to address diversity in practice about the interpretation of the pro forma
revenue and earnings disclosure requirements for business combinations. The amendments in ASU 2010-29 specify that
if a public entity presents comparative financial statements, the entity should disclose revenue and earnings of the
combined entity as though the business combination(s) that occurred during the current year had occurred as of the
beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period only. The amendments also expand the supplemental pro
forma disclosures to include a description of the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments
directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro forma revenue and earnings. The
amendments affect any public entity as defined by ASC 805 that enters into business combinations that are material on
an individual or aggregate basis. This guidance will become effective for us for acquisitions occurring on or after the
beginning of our 2012 fiscal year. We do not expect the adoption of this guidance will have a material impact upon our
financial position or results of operations.
In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04, which updated the guidance in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value
Measurement. The amendments in this Update generally represent clarifications of Topic 820, but also include some
instances where a particular principle or requirement for measuring fair value or disclosing information about fair value
measurements has changed. This Update results in common principles and requirements for measuring fair value and for
disclosing information about fair value measurements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and International Financial
Reporting Standards. The amendments in this Update are to be applied prospectively. For public entities, the
amendments are effective during interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011, and early application is
not permitted. This guidance will become effective for us as of the beginning of our second quarter of fiscal 2012. The
adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, which updated the guidance in ASC Topic 220, Comprehensive
Income. Under the amendments in this Update, an entity has the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the
components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement
of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. In both choices, an entity is required to present
each component of net income along with total net income, each component of other comprehensive income along with a
total for other comprehensive income, and a total amount for comprehensive income. This Update eliminates the option
to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders' equity.
The amendments in this Update do not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when
an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income. The amendments in this Update should be
applied retrospectively. For public entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those years, beginning after December 15, 2011, and early application is permitted. In December of 2011, the FASB
issued ASU No. 2011-12, which defers only those provisions within ASU 2011-05 pertaining to reclassification
adjustments out of accumulated other comprehensive income. This guidance, except for those provisions deferred by
ASU 2011-12, will become effective for us as of the beginning of our 2013 fiscal year. The adoption of this guidance
will not have an impact on our financial position or results of operations.
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In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-08, which updates the guidance in ASC Topic 350, Intangibles –
Goodwill & Other. The amendments in ASU 2011-08 affect all entities that have goodwill reported in their financial
statements. The amendments in ASU 2011-08 permit an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying amount as a basis for determining
whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test described in ASC Topic 350. The more-likelythan-not threshold is defined as having a likelihood of more than 50 percent. If, after assessing the totality of events or
circumstances, an entity determines that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is unnecessary. The amendments in this Update include
examples of events and circumstances that an entity should consider in evaluating whether it is more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, however the examples are not intended to be allinclusive and an entity my identify other relevant events and circumstances to consider in making the determination. The
examples in this Update supersede the previous examples under ASC Topic 350 of events and circumstances an entity
should consider in determining whether it should test for impairment between annual tests, and also supersede the
examples of events and circumstances that an entity having a reporting unit with a zero or negative should consider in
determining whether to perform the second step of the impairment test. Under the amendments in this Update, an entity
is no longer permitted to carry forward its detailed calculation of a reporting unit’s fair value from a prior year as
previously permitted under ASC Topic 350. As permitted by ASU 2011-08, we have adopted the provisions of this
Update effective for our fiscal 2011 annual test for goodwill impairment, performed as of the beginning of the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2011. The adoption of this Update did not have a material impact upon our financial positions or results
of operations.
3. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of the following, net of taxes:
November 26,
2011
Actuarial adjustment to supplemental executive retirement defined benefit plan $
Unrealized holding gains
Excess of additional pension liability over unamortized transition obligation
$

(656) $
236
(188)
(608) $

4. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consists of the following:
November 26,
November 27,
2011
2010
$
16,848 $
38,987
(2,092)
(7,366)
$
14,756 $
31,621

Gross accounts receivable
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Net accounts receivable
Activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows:

2011
Balance, beginning of the year
Additions charged to expense
Write-offs
Balance, end of the year

$

$
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7,366 $
8,778
(14,052)
2,092 $

2010
10,757
4,671
(8,062)
7,366

November 27,
2010
(372)
284
(339)
(427)
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We believe that the carrying value of our net accounts receivable approximates fair value. The inputs into these fair value
estimates reflect our market assumptions and are not observable. Consequently, the inputs are considered to be Level 3
as specified in the fair value hierarchy in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. See Note 8.
5. Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:
November 26,
November 27,
2011
2010
$
26,873 $
24,934
222
244
5,660
6,100
20,504
18,810
53,259
50,088
(6,955)
(6,550)
(1,175)
(1,728)
$
45,129 $
41,810

Wholesale finished goods
Work in process
Raw materials and supplies
Retail merchandise
Total inventories on first-in, first-out method
LIFO adjustment
Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory

During 2009, we liquidated certain LIFO inventories, which decreased cost of sales by $1,232. We source a significant
amount of our wholesale product from other countries. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, purchases from our two largest
vendors located in China and Vietnam were $24,996, $24,229 and $19,021 respectively.
We estimate an inventory reserve for excess quantities and obsolete items based on specific identification and historical
write-offs, taking into account future demand, market conditions and the respective valuations at LIFO. The need for
these reserves is primarily driven by the normal product life cycle. As products mature and sales volumes decline, we
rationalize our product offerings to respond to consumer tastes and keep our product lines fresh. If actual demand or
market conditions in the future are less favorable than those estimated, additional inventory write-downs may be
required. In determining reserves, we calculate separate reserves on our wholesale and retail inventories. Our wholesale
inventories tend to carry the majority of the reserves for excess quantities and obsolete inventory due to the nature of our
distribution model. These wholesale reserves primarily represent design and/or style obsolescence. Typically, product is
not shipped to our retail warehouses until a consumer has ordered and paid a deposit for the product. We do not typically
hold retail inventory for stock purposes. Consequently, floor sample inventory and inventory for delivery to customers
account for the majority of our inventory at retail. Retail reserves are based on accessory and clearance floor sample
inventory in our stores and any inventory that is not associated with a specific customer order in our retail warehouses.
Activity in the reserves for excess quantities and obsolete inventory by segment are as follows:
Wholesale
Retail
Segment
Segment
Total
$
1,465 $
389 $
1,854
1,588
226
1,814
(1,534)
(406)
(1,940)
1,519
209
1,728
688
272
960
(1,220)
(293)
(1,513)
$
987 $
188 $
1,175

Balance at November 28, 2009
Additions charged to expense
Write-offs
Balance at November 27, 2010
Additions charged to expense
Write-offs
Balance at November 26, 2011
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6. Notes Receivable
Notes receivable consists of the following:
November 26,
November 27,
2011
2010
$
6,017 $
14,914

Notes receivable
Allowance for doubtful accounts
and discounts on notes receivable
Notes receivable, net
Less: current portion of notes receivable
Long term notes receivable

$

(4,140)
1,877
(75)
1,802 $

(6,748)
8,166
(658)
7,508

Our notes receivable, which bear interest at rates ranging from 2% to 6%, consist primarily of amounts due from our
licensees from loans made by the Company to help licensees fund their operations. Approximately 43% and 61% of our
notes receivable represent conversions of past due accounts receivable at November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010,
respectively. We have discontinued these conversions and have no plans to resume this practice. At the inception of the
note receivable, we determined whether the note carried a market rate of interest. A discount on the note was recorded if
we determined that the note carried an interest rate below the market rate. We amortize the related note discount over
the contractual term of the note and cease amortizing the discount to interest income when the present value of expected
future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the note. Interest income on the notes receivable, which is included
in other income (loss), net, was as follows:

Interest income

$

2011
2010
2009
129 $
463 $
681

The initial carrying value of the notes receivable was determined using present value techniques which consider the fair
market rate of interest based on the licensee’s risk profile and estimated cash flows to be received. The estimated fair
value of our notes receivable portfolio was $1,877 at November 26, 2011 and $8,212 at November 27, 2010. The inputs
into these fair value calculations reflect our market assumptions and are not observable. Consequently, the inputs are
considered to be Level 3 as specified in the fair value hierarchy in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures. See Note 8.
Substantially all of our notes receivable comprise a single portfolio segment of financing receivables consisting of notes
receivable from current and former licensees. These notes receivable are evaluated in three classes – those due from
current licensees, those due from former licensees which are secured by real estate, and those due from former licensees
which are unsecured. On a quarterly basis, we examine these notes receivable for evidence of impairment. With respect
to current licensees, we consider factors such as licensee capitalization, projected operating performance, the viability of
the market in which the licensee operates and the licensee’s operating history, including our cash receipts from the
licensee, licensee sales and any underlying collateral. Our evaluation of former licensees is primarily based upon
payment history and an evaluation of the underlying collateral. After considering these factors, should we believe that all
or a portion of the expected cash flows attributable to the note receivable will not be received, we record an impairment
charge on the note by estimating future cash flows and discounting them at the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the estimated discounted cash flows and the carrying value of the note is recorded as an increase to the
allowance for doubtful accounts. Notes receivable are charged off if they are deemed to be uncollectible with no
recoverable collateral value. Each note within a class is evaluated individually using the criteria described above as
applicable to its respective class.
These notes receivable, as well as our accounts receivable, are generally secured by the filing of security statements in
accordance with the Uniform Commercial Code and/or real estate owned by the maker of the note and in some cases,
personal guarantees by our licensees.
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Our investment in notes receivable and related allowances, disaggregated by class, are as follows at November 26, 2011:

Gross
Notes
Receivable
Due from current licensees
Due from former licensees:
Secured by real estate
Unsecured
Other notes

$

Balance at November 26, 2011

$

Allowance for
Doubtful
Accounts and
Discounts

1,529 $

(1,529)

2,657
1,636
195

(975)
(1,636)
-

6,017 $

(4,140)

Notes
Receivable Net
$

1,682
195

$

1,877

The notes receivable shown above by class include impaired notes and related allowances as of November 26, 2011 as
follows:

Gross
Notes
Receivable
Due from current licensees
Due from former licensees:
Secured by real estate
Unsecured

$

Balance at November 26, 2011

$

Allowance for
Doubtful
Accounts and
Discounts

1,529 $

(1,529)

1,558
1,636

(975)
(1,636)

4,723 $

(4,140)

Notes
Receivable Net
$

583
-

$

583

The average recorded investment in the impaired loans by class for the year ended November 26, 2011 was as follows:
Due from current licensees
Due from former licensees:
Secured by real estate
Unsecured
Total average recorded investment in impaired loans

39

$

843

$

733
86
1,662
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The aging of our investment in notes receivable by class, based on scheduled principal due dates, is as follows at
November 26, 2011:

Current
Due from current licensees
Due from former licensees:
Secured by real estate
Unsecured
Other notes

$

Balance at November 26, 2011

$

30-90 Days
Past Due

Over 90
Days
Past Due

1,400(1) $

11 $

1,032
195

29
-

1,596(2)
1,636(2)
-

40 $

3,350

2,627

$

118

Total
$

1,529
2,657
1,636
195

$

6,017

(1) Current balance includes principal of $625 on notes which currently require payments of interest only.
(2) Balance over 90 days past due represents notes in default.
The change in our allowance for doubtful accounts and discounts for the years ended November 26, 2011 (disaggregated
by class) and November 27, 2010, was as follows:

Due from
Current
Licensees
Balance at beginning of the year
Additions charged to expense
Write-offs and other deductions
Amortization of discounts
Balance at end of the year

$

$

2011 Activity by Class
Due from Former
Licensees
Secured by
Real
Estate
Unsecured

4,825 $
4,024
(7,292)
(28)
1,529 $

575 $
400
975 $

Other Notes

1,348 $
288
1,636 $

- $
- $

2011
Total
6,748 $
4,712
(7,292)
(28)
4,140 $

2010
Total
8,950
1,896
(4,027)
(71)
6,748

7. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following:
November 26,
November 27,
2011
2010
$
10,750 $
8,549
66,113
64,733
66,961
69,080
143,824
142,362
(93,878)
(96,112)
$
49,946 $
46,250

Land
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation

Depreciation expense for property and equipment was $4,837, $4,917, and $5,507, in fiscal 2011, 2010, and 2009,
respectively. The net book value of property and equipment utilized by Company-owned stores for 2011 and 2010, was
$39,317 and $33,789, respectively.
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8. Financial Instruments, Investments and Fair Value Measurements
Financial Instruments
Our financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, notes receivable, investment securities,
cost and equity method investments, accounts payable and long-term debt. Because of their short maturity, the carrying
amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value. Our cost and
equity method investments generally involve entities for which it is not practical to determine fair values.
Investments
Our investments consist of our interest in Fortress (formerly a part of the Alternative Asset Fund, which was dissolved
on December 31, 2010) and a portfolio of available-for-sale marketable securities as follows:
November 26,
2011
Reported in current assets:
Available-for-sale marketable securities
Total current
Reported in non-current assets:
Money market shares
Available-for-sale marketable securities
Fortress
Total non-current
Total investments

November 27,
2010

$

2,939 $
2,939

-

$

- $
806
806
3,745 $

11,368
2,911
832
15,111
15,111

$

Previously, our marketable securities, including money market shares, had been pledged as collateral under our former
revolving credit facility (see Note 13). Although we had the ability to buy and sell the individual marketable securities,
we were required to maintain a certain dollar amount in those brokerage accounts subject to the Securities Account
Control Agreement as part of the revolving credit facility, and securities or proceeds from the sale thereof were not
available for our general use. Accordingly, they were classified as non-current assets in our balance sheet. As of July 5,
2011, these securities are no longer required to be pledged as security under our credit agreement. Due to the termination
of the collateral pledge, we now include the balance of our investment in money market shares in cash and cash
equivalents in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of November 26, 2011, with the remaining available-forsale securities classified as marketable securities in current assets.
Fortress & Alternative Asset Fund
In 2008, we requested that our general partner begin to liquidate all of our investments in the Alternative Asset
Fund. During fiscal 2009, we received $19,258 for liquidations associated with various investments in the Fund. At
November 27, 2009, the Alternative Asset Fund held only a $749 investment in Fortress, along with some remaining
cash that was distributed in early 2011. Due to the level of the remaining assets in the Alternative Asset Fund, the
Company and Private Advisors, L.L.C. (the general partner) dissolved the partnership effective December 31, 2009 and
the Alternative Asset Fund’s remaining investment interest in Fortress was transferred to the Company.
Fortress is in the process of liquidating all of its underlying investments to wind down the fund. Once fully liquidated,
which is not expected in the near term, we will be paid our pro rata share of the proceeds. We will continue to monitor
the progress of the fund liquidation and adjust our valuation as necessary
Our investment in Fortress is valued at fair value primarily based on the net asset values which are determined by the
fund manager. Consequently, the inputs are considered to be Level 3 as specified in the fair value hierarchy in ASC 820,
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.
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Available-for-Sale Securities
Historically, our marketable securities have been held by two different money managers and consisted of a combination
of equity and fixed income securities, including money market funds. During the second quarter of 2009, we liquidated
our equity holdings with one of the managers and reinvested the proceeds in various money market funds, individual
bonds and bond funds. During the first quarter of 2010, we liquidated the equity holdings with the other manager and
reinvested those funds in money market accounts.
We classify our marketable securities as available-for-sale, which are reported at fair value. Unrealized holding gains and
losses, net of the related income tax effect, on available-for-sale securities are excluded from income and are reported as
other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses from securities classified as availablefor-sale are included in income. We measure the fair value of our marketable securities in accordance with ASC Topic
820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.
As of November 26, 2011, available-for-sale securities consisted of the following:
Cost
Basis
Bond mutual funds
Government agency obligations
US Treasury Obligations

$

$

1,175
908
648
2,731

Gross Unrealized
Gains
Losses
$

$

149 $
38
26
213 $

Market
Value
(4) $
(1)
(5) $

1,320
946
673
2,939

As of November 27, 2010, available-for-sale securities consisted of the following:
Cost
Basis
Money market shares
Bond mutual funds
Government agency obligations
US Treasury Obligations

$

$

11,368
990
761
876
13,995

Gross Unrealized
Gains
Losses
$

$

- $
224
45
15
284 $

Market
Value
- $
- $

11,368
1,214
806
891
14,279

The realized earnings from our marketable securities portfolio include realized gains and losses, based upon specific
identification, and dividend and interest income. Realized earnings were $163, $2,272 and $764 for fiscal 2011, 2010,
and 2009 respectively. Realized earnings for the year ended November 26, 2011 include $28 of gains previously
recorded in other comprehensive income. These amounts are recorded in income (loss) from investments in our
consolidated statements of operations. Of the $1,619 in fixed income securities, $432 matures in less than five years
with the remainder being long-term and maturing in greater than 20 years.
In accordance with ASC Topic 320, Investments – Debt and Equity Securities, we review our marketable securities to
determine whether a decline in fair value of a security below the cost basis is other than temporary. Should the decline
be considered other than temporary, we write down the cost basis of the security and include the loss in current earnings
as opposed to an unrealized holding loss. Consequently, in fiscal 2009 we recorded losses of $1,255 that were
considered to be other than temporary. No losses for other than temporary impairments were recognized during fiscal
2011 or 2010.
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Fair Value Measurement
The Company accounts for items measured at fair value in accordance with ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements
and Disclosures. ASC 820’s valuation techniques are based on observable and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs
reflect readily obtainable data from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our market assumptions. ASC
820 classifies these inputs into the following hierarchy:
Level 1 Inputs– Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2 Inputs– Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments
in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value
drivers are observable.
Level 3 Inputs– Instruments with primarily unobservable value drivers.
The fair values of our marketable securities and our investment in Fortress based on the level of inputs are summarized
below:
Level 1
Assets
Marketable Securities
Investment in Fortress
Total Assets

$
$

Level 2

2,939 $
2,939 $

Level 3
- $
- $

Fair Value

- $
806
806 $

2,939
806
3,745

The table below provides a reconciliation of all assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis which use level three or
significant unobservable inputs for the period of November 27, 2010 to November 26, 2011.
Fair Value
Measurements
Using
Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3 Inputs)
$

Balance at November 27, 2010
Total gains (losses) included in earnings related to change in
underlying net assets Transfers in and/or out of Level 3

(26)
$

Balance November 26, 2011
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The carrying values and approximate fair values of financial instruments as of November 26, 2011 and November 27,
2010 were as follows:
November 26, 2011
Carrying
Fair
value
value
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Notes receivable, net
Investments, including marketable securities
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Real estate notes payable
Lease/loan guarantee reserves

November 27, 2010
Carrying
Fair
value
value

$

69,601 $
14,756
1,877
3,745

69,601 $
14,756
1,877
3,745

11,071 $
31,621
8,166
15,111

11,071
31,621
8,212
15,111

$

18,821 $
3,864
508

18,821 $
3,804
508

24,893 $
13,816
2,304

24,893
13,556
2,304

9. Income from the Continued Dumping and Subsidy Offset Act
In 2000, the United States Congress passed the Continued Dumping and Subsidy Offset Act (CDSOA). The Act
requires that revenues from antidumping and countervailing duties on designated imports be distributed, on an annual
basis, to the domestic producers that were either petitioners or interested parties supporting the petition that resulted in
duties being levied. The CDSOA originally targeted the steel industry and eventually spread to other industries,
including the furniture industry, specifically targeting wooden bedroom furniture produced in China. We supported the
petition on wooden bedroom furniture produced in China. We recognized $765, $488 and $1,627 of CDSOA income in
fiscal 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. In 2006, legislation was enacted that ends CDSOA distributions for monies
collected after September 30, 2007, although distributions of monies collected prior to that date have continued during
2009, 2010 and 2011. A final distribution of the CDSOA funds may be made in 2012, however it has not been
determined what our share of that distribution will be, if any.
10. Licensee Acquisitions and Goodwill
As we continually monitor business relationships with our licensees, we may determine from time to time that it is in our
best interest to acquire a licensee’s operations in order to mitigate certain risks associated with the poor performance or
potential failure of a licensee. Such risks include loss of receivables or underlying collateral, potential impairment of the
value of our investments in real estate used by a licensee or exposure to contingent liabilities under lease guarantees, and
potential harm to our market share and brand integrity within a licensee’s market. In addition, we are sometimes
approached by our licensees to acquire all or certain stores operated by the licensee. We evaluate such opportunities
considering, among other things, the viability of the market and our participation in the store real estate.
During fiscal 2011, we acquired 100% controlling interests in nine retail stores operated by 4 licensees in Nevada,
Virginia, Ohio, Kentucky and Connecticut. These stores were acquired pursuant to strict foreclosure and settlement
agreements on the underlying assets subject to the terms of our security agreements with the licensees. These
acquisitions were funded through the exchange of existing accounts receivable for the net assets acquired from the
licensee.
The fiscal 2011 and 2010 acquisitions were accounted for in accordance with ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations,
which we adopted effective as of the beginning of 2010. Acquisitions prior to fiscal 2010 were accounted for in
accordance with FASB Statement No, 141, Business Combinations. The following table summarizes the net assets
acquired and consideration given in the store acquisitions:
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2011
Net assets acquired:
Inventory
Property and equipment/other
Goodwill
Customer deposits and other accrued expenses
Total net assets acquired
Consideration given:
Accounts receivable
Cash
Total consideration

2010

2009

$

3,618 $
1,293
(2,613)

3,319 $
3,113
435
(3,738)

2,798
841
(1,225)

$

2,298 $

3,129 $

2,414

$

2,298 $
-

2,751 $
378

1,933
481

$

2,298 $

3,129 $

2,414

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were measured at fair value in accordance with ASC 805. Acquired
inventory is valued at expected retail sales price less an allowance for direct selling costs and profit thereon. Acquired
property and equipment are valued based upon our estimate of replacement cost less an allowance for age and condition
at the time of acquisition. Customer deposits and accrued expenses are expected to be settled at face value within a short
period following acquisition; therefore face value is assumed to approximate fair value. The inputs into these fair value
calculations reflect our market assumptions and are not observable. Consequently, the inputs are considered to be Level
3 as specified in the fair value hierarchy in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. See Note 8.
The pro forma impact of the acquisitions on current and prior periods is not presented as we believe it is impractical to
do so. We were not able to compile what we believed to be complete, accurate and reliable accounting information to use
as a basis for pro forma presentations without an unreasonable effort. Net sales and operating losses generated by these
stores subsequent to their acquisition for the year in which they were acquired were as follows:

Net sales
Operating losses

$

2011
2010
2009
11,264 $
16,507 $
11,841
(874)
(1,972)
(1,588)

The carrying value of our goodwill, which is included in other long-term assets in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets, by reporting unit and the activity for fiscal 2011 and 2010 is as follows:
Wholesale
$

Balance as of November 28, 2009
Goodwill from store acquisition
Impairment charge
Balance as of November 27, 2010
Goodwill from store acquisition
Impairment charge

$

Balance as of November 26, 2011

Retail

Total

- $
276
-

- $
159
-

435
-

276
-

159
-

435
-

276 $

159 $

435

We perform our annual goodwill impairment review as of the beginning of our fiscal fourth quarter. In fiscal 2009, due
to the sharp decline in our market capitalization and the effects of the severe recessionary environment which existed at
that time, we concluded that our goodwill acquired prior to 2009 was impaired and recorded a charge of $532 for fiscal
2009. The impairment charge is included in restructuring and impairment charges in our consolidated statement of
operations. See Note 16.
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11. Unconsolidated Affiliated Companies
International Home Furnishings Center
On May 2, 2011 we sold our 46.9% interest in International Home Furnishings Center, Inc. (“IHFC”) to International
Market Centers, L.P. (“IMC”). Consideration received, the balance of our investment in IHFC at the time of sale, and
the resulting gain from the sale are as follows:
Gain of sale on affiliate:
Consideration received:
Cash
Tax escrow receivable (1)
Indemnification escrow receivable (2)
Investment in IMC (3)
Total consideration received

$

69,152
1,413
4,695
1,000

$

76,260

Investment in IHFC:
Distributions in excess of affiliate earnings
Gain on sale of affiliate

9,282
$

85,542

(1) Included in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at November 26, 2011.
(2) $2,348 included in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at November 26, 2011,
with the remainder included in other assets.
(3) Included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at November 26, 2011.
The tax escrow receivable represents the portion of escrowed sales proceeds expected to be released to us after the
settlement of certain outstanding IHFC tax obligations. In addition, $4,695 of proceeds was placed in escrow to
indemnify the purchaser with respect to various contingencies. Any unused portions of these escrowed funds will be
released to us over a three year period. Also in connection with the sale, we acquired a minority equity stake in IMC in
exchange for $1,000. IMC is majority owned by funds managed by Bain Capital Partners and a subsidiary of certain
investment funds managed by Oaktree Capital Management, L.P. Our investment in IMC is accounted for using the cost
method as we do not have significant influence over IMC.
IHFC owned and leased out floor space in a showroom facility in High Point, North Carolina. Prior to the sale of our
investment in IHFC, we accounted for the investment using the equity method since we did not maintain operating
control of IHFC. At November 27, 2010, our investment reflected a credit balance of $7,356 which is presented in the
liabilities section in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as “distributions in excess of affiliate earnings”. The
negative book value resulted from IHFC’s previous refinancing of its real estate based on the market value of the
property and using the proceeds to pay a special dividend to its owners. We recorded income and received dividends
from IHFC as follows:

Earnings Recognized
Dividends Received

$
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2011
2010
2009
1,832 $
4,535 $
4,705
3,756
937
3,749
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Summarized financial information for IHFC is as follows:
2011*
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Revenues
Net income

$

2010
22,575 $
43,892
13,163
105,526
39,518
9,680

- $
19,955
3,470

2009
21,002
43,448
9,371
113,000
40,618
10,042

*No balance sheet information is reported as of November 26, 2011 as we no longer have any
ownership interest in IHFC, and IHFC no longer exists as a stand-alone legal entity. Revenues
and net income are reported for the five month period ended May 2, 2011.

The complete financial statements of IHFC are included in our annual report on Form 10-K.
Zenith Freight Lines, LLC
We own 49% of Zenith Freight Lines, LLC, (“Zenith”) which provides domestic transportation and warehousing
services primarily to furniture manufacturers and distributors and also provides home delivery services to furniture
retailers. We have contracted with Zenith to provide for substantially all of our domestic freight, transportation and
warehousing needs for the wholesale business. In addition, Zenith provides home delivery services for several of our
Company-owned retail stores. Our investment in Zenith was $6,137 at November 26, 2011 and $5,147 at November 27,
2010 and is recorded in other long-term assets. During the second quarter of 2011, we made an additional cash
investment of $980, which represented our 49% share of a total $2,000 equity contribution to Zenith to partially fund
their acquisition of a warehouse facility. We paid Zenith approximately $19,499, $19,286 and $19,469, for freight
expense and logistical services in 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. At November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010,
we owed Zenith $1,147 and $1,512, respectively, for services rendered to us. We believe the transactions with Zenith are
at current market rates. We recorded the following earnings (losses) in income from unconsolidated affiliated companies,
net in our consolidated statements of operations:
2011
Earnings (Loss) Recognized
Dividends Received

$

2010

2009

8 $
-

165 $
-

2011

2010

362
98

12. Income Taxes
The components of the income tax provision (benefit) are as follows:

Current:
Federal
State

$

Deferred:
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance
Federal
State
Total

$

2009

3,947 $
676

(10) $
(196)

(1,777)
23

(17,464)
14,934
2,316
4,409 $

2,962
(2,195)
(767)
(206) $

9,553
(8,112)
(1,441)
(1,754)

The income tax provision for fiscal 2011 includes a benefit of $6,341 resulting from the utilization of Federal net
operating loss carryforwards.
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective income tax rate, as a percentage of income
before income taxes, is as follows:
2011
35.0%
(1.8)
(29.2)
(0.1)
3.4
7.3%

Statutory federal income tax rate
Dividends received deduction
Goodwill impairment
Change in income tax valuation allowance
Change in income tax reserves
State income tax, net of federal benefit
Other
Effective income tax rate

2010
(34.0) %
(71.6)
134.2
(13.2)
(20.1)
(4.6)
(9.3) %

2009
(34.0) %
(5.8)
0.7
39.1
(0.4)
(5.0)
(1.7)
(7.1) %

The income tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards, which give rise to significant portions of the deferred
income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities, are as follows:
November 26, November 27,
2011
2010
Deferred income tax assets:
Trade accounts receivable
Inventories
Property and equipment
Notes receivable
Retirement benefits
Federal net operating loss and credit carryforwards
State net operating loss carryforwards
Other than temporary impairment of marketable securities
Unrealized holding loss
Unrealized loss from affiliates, net
Lease termination accruals
Capital loss carryforward
Other

$

Gross deferred income tax assets
Valuation allowance
Total deferred income tax assets

804 $
2,036
3,749
1,592
5,162
134
2,376
56
912
1,676
2,651
21,148
(19,612)
1,536

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Unrealized gains from affiliates, net
Prepaid expenses and other
Unrealized holding gains, net
Total gross deferred income tax liabilities
Net deferred income tax assets

$
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2,760
1,957
2,938
2,528
4,706
9,440
3,908
55
4,237
1,066
1,522
2,954
38,071
(36,806)
1,265

125
169
81

95
118
106

375

319

1,161 $

946
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Due to the losses incurred prior to fiscal 2011, we remained in a cumulative loss position for the preceding three years
which is considered significant negative evidence that is difficult to overcome on a “more likely than not” standard
through objectively verifiable data. While our long-term financial outlook remains positive, we concluded that our
ability to rely on our long-term outlook and forecasts as to future taxable income was limited due to uncertainty created
by the weight of the negative evidence. As a result, we recorded a valuation allowance on certain of the deferred tax
assets. In fiscal 2011, due to the gain recognized on the sale of our interest in IHFC, we have been able to utilize net
operating loss carryforwards and credits to significantly offset the taxable gain, resulting in a significant reduction of the
valuation allowances. However, as the gain on the sale of IHFC does not represent a source of recurring future taxable
income, we have continued to record a valuation allowance against substantially all of our deferred tax assets as of
November 26, 2011. The following table represents a summary of the valuation allowances against deferred tax assets:
2011
Balance, beginning of the year
Additions charged to expense
Deductions reducing expense
Additions (deductions) recorded as a component of other
comprehensive (income) loss
Balance, end of the year

$

$

2010

2009

36,806 $
(17,464)

33,003 $
2,962
-

24,430
9,553
-

270
19,612 $

841
36,806 $

(980)
33,003

In November 2009, Congress passed the "Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistance Act of 2009" (the Act)
which, among other things, extends the general carryback period for 2008 or 2009 NOLs from two years to up to five.
Eligible corporations may elect to carry back "applicable NOLs" three, four, or five years. An "applicable NOL" is an
NOL that arises in a tax year either beginning or ending in 2008 or 2009. These provisions of the Act also suspend the
90% limit on the utilization of alternative tax NOLs against alternative minimum taxable income for all years in the
carryback period. In the case of an election to carry back the applicable NOL to the fifth preceding year, the amount of
the NOL carryback that may be applied in that fifth carryback year is limited to 50% of taxable income of that fifth
preceding year. Prior to the passage of the Act, we had exhausted our availability for loss carrybacks. As a result of
applying the provisions of the Act, we recorded a tax benefit of $1,673 in 2009 associated with the additional carryback
availability.
We have state net operating loss carryforwards available to offset future taxable state income of $29,815, which expire in
varying amounts between 2012 and 2030. Realization is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income prior to
expiration of the loss carryforwards.
Net income taxes paid (net refunds received) during 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $3,651, $(1,582), and $(3,246),
respectively.
As of November 26, 2011, the gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits was approximately $1,600 exclusive of interest
and penalties. Of this balance, if we were to prevail on all unrecognized tax benefits recorded, approximately $440
would benefit the effective tax rate. As of November 27, 2010, the gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits was
approximately $1,565, exclusive of interest and penalties. Of this balance, if we were to prevail on all unrecognized tax
benefits recorded, approximately $619 would benefit the effective tax rate. We regularly evaluate, assess and adjust the
related liabilities in light of changing facts and circumstances, which could cause the effective tax rate to fluctuate from
period to period.
The following table summarizes the activity related to our gross unrecognized tax benefits:

Balance, beginning of the year
Gross increases
Gross decreases, primarily due to the expiration of statutes

$

Balance, end of the year

$
49

2011
1,565 $
214
(179)
1,600 $

2010
1,580
134
(149)
1,565
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We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. During fiscal 2011,
2010, and 2009, we recognized $67, $(112), and $(47) of interest expense (expense recovery) and $46, $30, and $11 of
penalty expense recovery, respectively, related to the unrecognized benefits noted above in our consolidated statements
of operations. At November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, the consolidated balance sheets include accrued interest
of $226 and $159, and penalties of $97 and $143, respectively, due to unrecognized tax benefits.
Significant judgment is required in evaluating the Company's federal and state tax positions and in the determination of
its tax provision. Despite our belief that the liability for unrecognized tax benefits is adequate, it is often difficult to
predict the final outcome or the timing of the resolution of any particular tax matter. We may adjust these liabilities as
relevant circumstances evolve, such as guidance from the relevant tax authority, or resolution of issues in the courts.
These adjustments are recognized as a component of income tax expense in the period in which they are identified. The
Company also cannot predict when or if any other future tax payments related to these tax positions may occur.
Currently, a Federal examination is in process for tax year 2008 (our fiscal year ended November 28, 2009). We remain
subject to examination for tax years 2008 through 2010 for all of our major tax jurisdictions.
13. Real Estate Notes Payable and Bank Debt
The real estate notes payable and bank debt are summarized as follows:
November 26,
November 27,
2011
2010
$
3,864 $
13,816
3,864
13,816

Real estate notes payable
Bank debt
Less:
Current portion of real estate notes payable

$

(202)
3,662 $

(9,521)
4,295

Real Estate Notes Payable
Certain of our retail real estate properties have been financed through commercial mortgages with an interest rate of
6.73%. These mortgages are collateralized by the respective properties with net book values totaling approximately
$6,558 and $21,721 at November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, respectively. The current portion of these
mortgages, $202 and $9,521 as of November, 2011 and November 27, 2010, respectively, has been included as a current
liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The long-term portion, $3,662 and $4,295 as of November 26,
2011 and November 27, 2010, respectively, is presented as real estate notes payable in the consolidated balance
sheets. During fiscal 2011, we entered into Discounted Payoff Agreements (“DPOs”) with the lenders on three
mortgages which were subsequently paid off during the year. Under the terms of these DPOs the remaining balance
owed was reduced, resulting in a $1,305 gain on the settlement of these mortgages. This gain is included in other income
(loss), net, in our consolidated statements of operations.
The fair value of these mortgages was $3,804 and $13,556 at November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010,
respectively. In determining the fair value we utilized current market interest rates for similar instruments. The inputs
into these fair value calculations reflect our market assumptions and are not observable. Consequently, the inputs are
considered to be Level 3 as specified in the fair value hierarchy in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures. See Note 8.
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Maturities of real estate notes payable are as follows:
Fiscal 2012
Fiscal 2013
Fiscal 2014
Fiscal 2015
Fiscal 2016
Thereafter

$

$

202
216
231
247
264
2,704
3,864

Bank Debt
With our current level of liquidity, we have substantially reduced the size of our line of credit with our bank. On July 5,
2011, we entered into a temporary renewal agreement with our bank for a $10,000 revolving line of credit that matured
September 5, 2011. On September 28, 2011, we received a commitment letter from our bank offering a $3,000 line of
credit which will be used primarily to back our outstanding letters of credit. This new credit facility, which became
effective on December 9, 2011, contains covenants requiring us to maintain certain key financial ratios, however there
will be no requirement to pledge assets as collateral.
At November 26, 2011, we had $2,318 outstanding under standby letters of credit.
Total interest paid, including bank and mortgage debt, during fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $895, $1,830 and $2,396,
respectively.
14. Post-Employment Benefit Obligations
Supplemental Retirement Income Plan
We have an unfunded Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (the “Supplemental Plan”) that covers one current and
certain former executives. Upon retirement, the Supplemental Plan provides for lifetime monthly payments in an amount
equal to 65% of the participant’s final average compensation as defined in the Supplemental Plan, which is reduced by
certain social security benefits to be received and other benefits provided by us. The Supplemental Plan also provides a
death benefit that is calculated as (a) prior to retirement death, which pays the beneficiary 50% of final average annual
compensation for a period of 120 months, or (b) post-retirement death, which pays the beneficiary 200% of final average
compensation in a single payment. We own life insurance policies with a current net death benefit of $4,307 on these
executives and expect to substantially fund this death benefit through the proceeds received upon the death of the
executive. Funding for the remaining cash flows is expected to be provided through operations. There are no benefits
payable as a result of a termination of employment for any reason other than death or retirement, other than a change of
control provision which provides for the immediate vesting and payment of the retirement benefit under the
Supplemental Plan in the event of an employment termination resulting from a change of control.
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Summarized information for the plan measured as of the end of each year presented, is as follows:
2011
Change in Benefit Obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial losses
Benefits paid
Projected benefit obligation at end of year

$

2010

$

8,866 $
47
420
662
(669)
9,326 $

9,857
44
422
709
(2,166)
8,866

Accumulated Benefit Obligation

$

9,102 $

8,619

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet:
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

$

866 $
8,460
9,326 $

846
8,020
8,866

$

297 $
1,034
1,331 $

339
372
711

$

1,129 $

1,175

$
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income:
Transition obligation
Actuarial loss (gain)
Net amount recognized

$

Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and accumulated other
comprehensive income:
2011
Components of Net Periodic Pension Cost:
Service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of transition obligation
Net periodic pension cost
Assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost:
Discount rate
Increase in future compensation levels

2009

$

47 $
420
42

44 $
422
42

35
627
42

$

509 $

508 $

704

5.00%
3.00%

Estimated Future Benefit Payments (with mortality):
Fiscal 2012
Fiscal 2013
Fiscal 2014
Fiscal 2015
Fiscal 2016
Fiscal 2017 through 2021
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2010

5.25%
3.00%

$

866
837
805
772
738
3,143

5.25%
3.00%
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Deferred Compensation Plan
We have an unfunded Deferred Compensation Plan that covers one current and certain former executives and provides
for voluntary deferral of compensation. This plan has been frozen with no additional participants or benefits permitted.
We recognized expense of $332, $376, and $377 in fiscal 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively, associated with the
plan. Our liability under this plan was $2,766 and $2,985 as of November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010,
respectively, and is reflected in post employment benefit obligations.
Defined Contribution Plan
We have a qualified defined contribution plan (Employee Savings/Retirement Plan) that covers substantially all
employees who elect to participate and have fulfilled the necessary service requirements. Employee contributions to the
Plan are matched at the rate of 50% of up to 8% of gross pay, regardless of years of service; however, we suspended the
matching contributions effective during the first quarter of 2010 continuing through fiscal 2011. The Plan incorporates
provisions of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Employer matching contributions to the Plan for fiscal 2009
were approximately $29.
15. Capital Stock and Stock Compensation
We account for our stock-based employee and director compensation plans in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation
– Stock Compensation. ASC 718 requires recognition of the cost of employee services received in exchange for an
award of equity instruments in the financial statements over the period the employee is required to perform the services
in exchange for the award (presumptively the vesting period) which we recognize on a straight-line basis. Compensation
expense related to restricted stock and stock options included in selling, general and administrative expenses in our
consolidated statements of operations for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 was as follows:
2011
$

2010
426

$

2009
376

$

183

Stock Option Plans
In 1997, we adopted an Employee Stock Plan (the “1997 Plan”), and reserved for issuance 950,000 shares of common
stock. An additional 500,000 shares of common stock were authorized for issuance in 2000. In addition, the terms of the
1997 Plan allow for the re-issuance of any stock options which have been forfeited before being exercised. Options
granted under the 1997 Plan may be for such terms and exercised at such times as determined by the Organization,
Compensation, and Nominating Committee of the Board of Directors. Vesting periods typically range from one to three
years. There are no shares available for grant under the 1997 Plan at November 26, 2011, however up to 500,000 shares
associated with outstanding grants under the 1997 may become available for grant under the 2010 Plan (see below).
In 2005, we adopted a Non-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”) and reserved 100,000 shares
of common stock for grant. The Incentive Plan authorized incentive awards in the form of restricted stock or stock
grants. All Directors of the Company who are not full-time employees of the Company are eligible to receive incentive
awards under the Incentive Plan. There were no shares available for grant under the Incentive Plan at November 26,
2011 and 10,087 available at November 27, 2010.
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On April 14, 2010, our shareholders approved the Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated 2010 Stock Incentive Plan
(the “2010 Plan”). All present and future non-employee directors, key employees and outside consultants for the
Company are eligible to receive incentive awards under the 2010 Plan. Our Organization, Compensation and Nominating
Committee (the “Compensation Committee”) selects eligible key employees and outside consultants to receive awards
under the 2010 Plan in its discretion. Our Board of Directors or any committee designated by the Board of Directors
selects eligible non-employee directors to receive awards under the 2010 Plan in its discretion. Five hundred thousand
(500,000) shares of common stock are reserved for issuance under the 2010 Plan. In addition, up to 500,000 shares that
are represented by outstanding awards under the 1997 Employee Stock Plan which are forfeited, expire or are canceled
after the effective date of the 2010 Plan will be added to the reserve and may be used for new awards under the 2010
Plan. Participants may receive the following types of incentive awards under the 2010 Plan: stock options, stock
appreciation rights, payment shares, restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance shares. Stock options may be
incentive stock options or non-qualified stock options. Stock appreciation rights may be granted in tandem with stock
options or as a freestanding award. Non-employee directors and outside consultants are eligible to receive restricted
stock and restricted stock units only. We expect to issue new common stock upon the exercise of options.
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The
risk free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rate for the expected life at the time of grant, volatility is based on the average
long-term implied volatilities of peer companies, the expected life is based on the estimated average of the life of options
using the simplified method, and forfeitures are estimated on the date of grant based on certain historical data. We
utilize the simplified method to determine the expected life of our options due to insufficient exercise activity during
recent years as a basis from which to estimate future exercise patterns. During fiscal 2011 and 2010, our Compensation
Committee authorized the issuance of 91,000 and 172,000 stock options, respectively, from the 2010 Plan to certain of
our key employees. The stock options vest ratably over a four-year period and have 10-year contractual terms. The
following table sets forth the weighted average fair value of options granted during 2011 and 2010 and the weighted
average assumptions used for such grants (there were no grants made in 2009):
2011
$ 4.19
6.25
2.19% - 2.49%
60.0%
0.0% - 1.5%

Weighted average fair value of options on grant date
Expected life of options in years
Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Dividend yield

2010
$ 2.55
6.25
2.5%
60.0%
0.0%

Changes in the outstanding options under our plans during the year ended November 26, 2011 were as follows:

Number of
Shares
Outstanding at November 27, 2010
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/Expired
Outstanding at November 26, 2011
Exercisable at November 26, 2011

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price Per Share

1,009,514 $
91,000
(21,000)
(4,050)
1,075,464
855,464 $
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14.28
8.04
4.38
12.88
13.95
16.02
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Changes in the non-vested options under our plans during the year ended November 26, 2011 were as follows:

Number of
Shares
Non-vested options outstanding at November 27, 2010
Granted
Vested
Forfeited/Expired
Non-vested options outstanding at November 26, 2011

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value
Per Share

172,000 $
91,000
(43,000)
220,000

2.55
4.19
2.55
3.23

Unrecognized compensation cost related to these non-vested options at November 26, 2011 is $627, expected to be
recognized over approximately a two and one-half year period.
Additional information regarding our outstanding stock options at November 26, 2011 is as follows:
Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Weighted
Contractual
Average
Shares
Life (Years)
Exercise Price
151,000
8.6 $
4.38
91,000
9.6
8.04
158,000
5.8
10.60
267,464
1.3
14.75
150,000
4.6
16.96
258,000
2.2
21.11
1,075,464

Range of
Exercise Prices
$3.23 - $6.45
$6.45 - $9.67
$9.68 - $12.90
$12.91 - $16.13
$16.14 - $19.35
$19.36 - $22.58

Aggregate
intrinsic value

$

536

Options Exercisable

Shares
22,000
158,000
267,464
150,000
258,000
855,464

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
$
4.38
10.60
14.75
16.96
21.11

458

Additional information regarding activity in our stock options during fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 is as follows:
2011
Total intrinsic value of options exercised
Total fair value of options vested

$

55

2010
74 $
110

2009
- $
242

242
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The following restricted stock awards were granted during fiscal 2011 and 2010:
Restricted
Shares
Granted

Grant
Date

Share Value
at Grant Date
Per Share

Restriction
Period
(Years)

Grants during fiscal 2010

May 3, 2010
July 14, 2010

17,528
43,000

$
$

5.99
4.38

1
3

Grants during fiscal 2011

March 7, 2011
May 2, 2011
July 13, 2011

4,000
11,760
79,200

$
$
$

8.15
8.93
8.02

3
1
3

At November 26, 2011, non-vested restricted stock grants totaling 137,960 shares remain outstanding. Unrecognized
compensation cost related to these non-vested restricted shares at November 26, 2011 is $713, expected to be recognized
over approximately a two and one-half year period.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In 2000, we adopted and implemented an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) that allows eligible employees to
purchase a limited number of shares of our stock at 85% of market value. Under the ESPP we sold 39,618, 43,730 and
48,726 shares to employees in fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, which resulted in an immaterial amount of
compensation expense.
16. Restructuring, asset impairment, and other charges
The following table summarizes the restructuring, asset impairment charges and other unusual items by year:
2011
Restructuring and asset impairment charges:
Impairment of goodwill (See note 10)
$
Impairment of leasehold improvements
Asset impairment charges related to Company-owned retail store closures
Asset impairment charges & demolition costs associated with closed plants
Supply contract termination costs associated with fiberboard plant closure
Severance
Other
Total restructuring and asset impairment charges
$

2010

2009

- $
1,156
1,312
32
2,500 $

- $
- $

532
1,068
485
408
494
2,987

1,221 $
1,500

- $
-

2,434
-

$

1,007
3,728 $

- $

2,434

Licensee debt cancellation charges

$

6,447 $

- $

-

Total charges related to restructuring, asset impairment, lease exit costs and
debt cancellation included in loss from operations

$

12,675 $

- $

5,421

Lease exit costs
Lease exit costs related to Company-owned retail store closures
Charge for modification of existing Company-owned retail store lease
Changes in estimates related to previously closed Company-owned retail
stores
Total lease exit costs
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Total restructuring and asset impairment charges by segment are as follows:

Wholesale
Retail

2011
2010
8,653 $
4,022
$
12,675 $
$

- $
- $

2009
2,028
3,393
5,421

The following table summarizes the activity related to our accrued lease exit costs:
2011
Balance, beginning of the year
$
Provisions associated with corporate store and retail office closures
Provisions associated with licensee store closings
Provisions made to adjust previous estimates
Payments on unexpired leases
Payment to terminate lease commitment
Accretion of interest on obligations

2010

2,847 $
2,721
661
1,560
(2,048)
(1,500)
116

3,499
736
(1,488)
100

Balance, end of the year

$

4,357 $

2,847

Current portion included in other accrued liabilities
Long-term portion included in other long-term liabilities

$

1,756 $
2,601
4,357 $

889
1,958
2,847

$
Fiscal 2011
Restructuring and Asset Impairment Charges

During fiscal 2011 we recorded asset impairment charges of $2,500. These charges included costs of $318 for the
demolition of a previously closed facility in Bassett, Virginia, and $32 associated with the relocation of our retail store in
Manchester, Missouri. We also incurred non-cash charges which included: $566 for the additional write-down of a
previously closed manufacturing facility in Mt. Airy, North Carolina; and $428 for the additional write-down of a
previously closed manufacturing facility in Bassett, Virginia; $966 for the write-off of leasehold improvements and other
assets due to the closure of six retail locations in Albuquerque, New Mexico; Bear, Delaware; Bel Air, Maryland; Carol
Stream, Illinois; Frederick, Maryland; and Spanish Fort, Alabama; and $190 for the write-off of leasehold improvements
and other assets associated with the relocation of our store in Manchester, Missouri. Total non-cash impairment charges
described above for the year ended November 26, 2011 were $2,150. The write-downs of the previously closed
manufacturing facilities are based on our estimates of their fair values. The inputs into these fair value estimates reflect
our market assumptions and are not observable. Consequently, the inputs are considered to be Level 3 as specified in the
fair value hierarchy in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. See Note 8.
Lease Exit Costs
During fiscal 2011, we recorded charges of $3,728 for lease exit costs and lease modifications which included: non-cash
charges of $1,221 for lease exit costs related to the closure of retail stores in Albuquerque, New Mexico, and in Bel Air
and Frederick, Maryland, as well as a previously closed location in Lewisville, Texas; non-cash charges of $1,007 to
reflect reduced estimates of recoverable lease costs at four previously closed retail locations; and a charge of $1,500 for a
cash payment made for the modification of an existing lease at one of our Company-owned retail store locations.
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Licensee Debt Cancellation Charges
During fiscal 2011, we gained significant liquidity as a result of the sale of our investment in IHFC (see Note 11). This
liquidity event enabled us to become more opportunistic in managing our relationships with our licensees and therefore
accelerate certain licensees’ ability to rebuild their businesses after several years of extremely difficult industry
conditions. As such, during the second fiscal quarter of 2011, we cancelled certain debts of what we consider to be key
licensees in select markets. While the debts cancelled were considered to be collectible over time, we believe that, rather
than requiring repayment of these obligations, we will realize a greater long-term benefit by the cancellation of these
debts. In exchange for relieving the debts of these licensees and thus strengthening their respective financial positions,
we believe these licensees will be in a much better position to reinvest in all aspects of their store operations (new
product offerings, personnel, advertising, building appeal, etc.) which will ultimately lead to increased sales and
profitability of the Bassett brand. As a result of this debt cancellation, we incurred a charge for the year ended November
26, 2011 of $6,447.
In addition to the charges discussed above affecting loss from operations during fiscal 2011, other income (loss), net for
the year ended November 26, 2011 includes non-cash charges of $4,790 for asset impairments and lease termination
costs associated with our retail real estate investments, including: asset impairment charges of $2,106 to write down idle
retail locations in Henderson, Nevada and Chesterfield, Virginia to appraised values; $1,847 to write off certain tenant
improvements deemed to be unrecoverable; $661 related to lease termination costs for a closed licensee store; and $176
related to adjustments of previous estimates. The write-downs of the retail assets are based on our estimates of their fair
values. The inputs into these fair value estimates reflect our market assumptions and are not observable. Consequently,
the inputs are considered to be Level 3 as specified in the fair value hierarchy in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures. See Note 8.
Fiscal 2010
Other than income of $488 from the CDSOA, no restructuring charges or other significant non-recurring items were
included in our loss from operations.
Fiscal 2009
In 2009, we recorded non-cash asset impairment charges of $1,068 for the write-off of the remaining leasehold
improvements for our Arlington, Texas and Alpharetta, Georgia retail stores as well as the closure of our retail office in
Greensboro, North Carolina. Also included in that amount was a non-cash charge to write-down the carrying value of
our long-lived assets associated with an underperforming retail location.
We recorded a $485 non-cash charge to write-down the value of the property and equipment as a result of the fiberboard
plant closure in the fourth quarter of 2009. In addition, we recorded a $408 charge associated with the termination of a
power supply contract for the fiberboard plant. This amount was paid out in 2010.
Lastly, we recorded severance charges of $320 associated with a reduction in workforce announced in March 2009 and
$174 associated with the fiberboard plant closure.
These charges were based on ultimate payment amounts and approximated fair value. These amounts were determined
based on Level 3 inputs, which include our judgment about future cash flows and other considerations.
There were no accrued restructuring obligations included in the accompanying balance sheets as of November 26, 2011
or November 27, 2010.
17. Contingencies
We are involved in various claims and actions, including environmental matters, which arise in the normal course of
business. Although the final outcome of these matters cannot be determined, based on the facts presently known, it is our
opinion that the final resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or future
results of operations.
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18. Leases, Lease Guarantees and Loan Guarantees
Leases
We lease land and buildings under operating leases that are used in the operation of our Company-owned retail stores as
well as in the operation of independent licensee BHF stores. Our decision to exercise renewal options is primarily
dependent on the level of business conducted at the location and the profitability thereof. Some store leases contain
contingent rental provisions based upon sales volume. Additionally, we lease showroom space from IMC (and from its
predecessor, IHFC), which is priced at what we believe to be a market rate. Lease terms range from one to 15 years and
generally have renewal options of between five and 15 years. The following schedule shows future minimum lease
payments under non-cancelable operating leases having remaining terms in excess of one year as of November 26, 2011:
Fiscal 2012
Fiscal 2013
Fiscal 2014
Fiscal 2015
Fiscal 2016
Thereafter

$

$

17,639
15,165
11,638
9,200
6,543
13,064
73,249

Lease expense was $16,406, $16,575 and $15,598 for 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.
In addition to subleasing certain of these properties, we own retail real estate which we in turn lease to licensee operators
of BHF stores. The following schedule shows minimum future rental income related to pass-through rental expense on
subleased property as well as rental income on real estate owned by Bassett, excluding subleases based on a percentage
of sales.
Fiscal 2012
Fiscal 2013
Fiscal 2014
Fiscal 2015
Fiscal 2016
Thereafter

$

$

3,407
3,219
2,576
1,899
766
480
12,347

Real estate rental income (loss), net of expense (including lease costs, depreciation, insurance, and taxes), related to
licensee stores and other investment real estate, was $285 in 2011, $(429) in 2010, and $(434) in 2009 and is reflected in
other expense, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
Guarantees
As part of the strategy for our store program, we have guaranteed certain lease obligations of licensee operators. Lease
guarantees range from one to ten years. We were contingently liable under licensee lease obligation guarantees in the
amount of $2,515 and $5,856 at November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, respectively.
We have also guaranteed loans of certain of our BHF dealers to finance initial inventory packages for those stores. Loan
guarantees have three year terms, are collateralized by the inventory and generally carry a personal guarantee of the
independent dealer. The total contingent liability with respect to these loan guarantees as of November 26, 2011, and
November 27, 2010, was $186 and $2,296, respectively.
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In the event of default by an independent dealer under the guaranteed lease or loan, we believe that the risk of loss is
mitigated through a combination of options that include, but are not limited to, arranging for a replacement dealer,
liquidating the collateral, and pursuing payment under the personal guarantees of the independent dealer. The proceeds
of the above options are estimated to cover the maximum amount of our future payments under the guarantee
obligations, net of reserves. The fair value of guarantees at November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, were $508 and
$2,304, respectively, and are recorded in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. The inputs into this fair value estimate reflect our market assumptions and are not
observable. Consequently, the inputs are considered to be Level 3 as specified in the fair value hierarchy in ASC 820,
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. See Note 8.
19. Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share:
2011
Numerator:
Net income (loss)

$

Denominator:
Denominator for basic income (loss) per share - weighted average
shares
Effect of dilutive securities
Denominator for diluted income (loss) per share — weighted average
shares and assumed conversions

55,342 $

2010
(2,002) $

2009
(22,699)

11,437,291
106,879

11,459,257
-

11,395,789
-

11,544,170

11,459,257

11,395,789

Basic income (loss) per share:
Net income (loss) per share — basic

$

4.84 $

(0.17) $

(1.99)

Diluted income (loss) per share:
Net income (loss) per share — diluted

$

4.79 $

(0.17) $

(1.99)

Options to purchase 924,464, 1,009,514 and 1,047,638 shares of common stock in fiscal 2011, 2010, and 2009,
respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect of including the
options in the computation would have been anti-dilutive.
20. Segment Information
We have strategically aligned our business into three reportable segments as defined in ASC 280, Segment Reporting,
and as described below:


Wholesale. The wholesale home furnishings segment is involved principally in the design, manufacture,
sourcing, sale and distribution of furniture products to a network of Bassett stores (licensee-owned stores and
Company-owned retail stores) and independent furniture retailers. Our wholesale segment includes our wood
and upholstery operations as well as all corporate selling, general and administrative expenses, including those
corporate expenses related to both Company- and licensee-owned stores.



Retail – Company-owned Stores. Our retail segment consists of Company-owned stores and includes the
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities (including real estate) and capital expenditures directly related to these
stores.
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Investments and Real Estate. Our investments/real estate segment consists of our marketable securities,
investments, distributions in excess of affiliate earnings (IHFC) and retail real estate related to licensee stores.
Although this segment does not have operating earnings, income or loss from the segment is included in other
income (loss), net, in our consolidated statements of operations. Our equity investment in IHFC is not included
in the identifiable assets of this segment since it had a negative book value at November 27, 2010 and was
therefore included in the long-term liabilities section of our consolidated balance sheet. Our entire investment in
IHFC was sold during the second quarter of 2011. See Note 11 for further discussion of IHFC.

Inter-Company net sales elimination represents the elimination of wholesale sales to our Company-owned stores. Intercompany income elimination represents the embedded wholesale profit in the Company-owned store inventory that has
not been realized. These profits will be recorded when merchandise is delivered to the retail consumer.
The following table presents segment information for each of the last three fiscal years:

Net Sales
Wholesale
Retail
Inter-company elimination
Consolidated

$

$

Income (loss) from Operations
Wholesale
$
Retail
Inter-company elimination
Income from CDSOA
Restructuring, asset impairment charges and unusual gains, net
Wholesale
Retail
Licensee debt cancellation charges
Lease exit costs
Consolidated loss from operations
$
Depreciation and Amortization
Wholesale
Retail
Investments/real estate
Consolidated

$

$

Capital Expenditures
Wholesale
Retail
Investments/real estate
Consolidated

$

$

Identifiable Assets
Wholesale
Retail
Investments/real estate
Consolidated

$

$
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2011

2010

2009

177,372 $
147,961
(72,125)
253,208 $

176,255 $
122,241
(63,242)
235,254 $

179,534
105,378
(52,190)
232,722

(4,394) $
(4,495)
942
765

2,431 $
(7,387)
269
488

(9,100)
(8,131)
1,077
1,627

(1,311)
(1,189)
(6,447)
(3,728)
(19,857) $

(4,199) $

(2,028)
(959)
(2,434)
(19,948)

1,246 $
3,421
847
5,514 $

1,670 $
3,095
1,201
5,966 $

2,633
2,730
1,241
6,604

690 $
3,478
4,168 $

515 $
1,498
2,013 $

486
608
2
1,096

142,361 $
60,811
20,002
223,174 $

95,957 $
58,736
42,624
197,317 $

119,475
53,030
43,724
216,229
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A breakdown of wholesale sales by product category for each of the last three fiscal years is provided below:
2011
Wood
Upholstery

2010

44%
56%
100%

2009

44%
56%
100%

50%
50%
100%

21. Quarterly Results of Operations (unaudited)
2011
First
Quarter
(1)
Net sales
Gross profit
Net income (loss)
Basic earnings (loss) per share
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

$

64,264 $
31,848
(8,255)
(0.72)
(0.72)

Second
Quarter
(2)

Third
Quarter
(3)

66,261 $
33,197
62,546
5.43
5.39

59,417 $
29,251
417
0.04
0.04

Fourth
Quarter
(4)
63,266
33,270
633
0.06
0.06

2010
First
Quarter

Net sales
Gross profit
Net income (loss)
Basic earnings (loss) per share
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

$

52,891 $
25,743
(1,692)
(0.15)
(0.15)

Second
Quarter

57,845 $
28,437
117
0.01
0.01

Third
Quarter

58,527 $
26,613
(2,368)
(0.21)
(0.21)

Fourth
Quarter
(5)
65,991
31,895
1,941
0.17
0.17

All quarters presented above for 2011 and 2010 consist of 13 week fiscal periods.
(1) Includes restructuring and asset impairment charges of $879 and lease exit costs of $884 – see Note 16 for
further details.
(2) Includes $85,542 gain on sale of affiliate – see Note 11 for further details regarding the sale of our investment
in IHFC. Also includes licensee debt cancellation charges of $6,447, restructuring and asset impairment charges
of $1,080, and lease exit costs of $2,844 – see Note 16 for further details.
(3) Includes restructuring and asset impairment charges of $123 – see Note 16 for further details.
(4) Includes $765 of income associated with the Continued Dumping & Subsidy Offset Act. See Note 9 for further
details. Also includes $418 of asset impairment and restructuring charges – see Note 16 for further details.
(5) Includes $488 of income associated with the Continued Dumping & Subsidy Offset Act. See Note 9 for further
details.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The selected financial data set forth below for the fiscal years indicated were derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements. The information should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements (including
the notes thereto) and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
appearing elsewhere in, or incorporated by reference into, this report.
2011
Net sales
Gross profit
Operating loss
Gain on sale of affiliate
Other income (loss), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share
Cash dividends declared
Cash dividends per share
Total assets
Long-term debt
Current ratio
Book value per share
Weighted average number of shares

2010

2009

2008

2007

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

253,208
$ 235,254
$ 232,722
$ 288,298 $ 295,384
127,566
$ 112,688
$ 102,840
$ 114,899 $ 100,383
(19,857)(1) $
(4,199)(1) $ (19,948)(1) $ (16,454) $ (19,916)
85,542 (2) $
$
$
- $
(5,934) $
1,991
$
(4,505) $
(6,956) $
5,947
59,751
$
(2,208) $ (24,453) $ (23,410) $ (13,969)
4,409
$
(206) $
(1,754) $
16,945 $
(4,059)
55,342
$
(2,002) $ (22,699) $ (40,355) $
(9,910)
4.79
$
(0.17) $
(1.99) $
(3.46) $
(0.84)
6,757
$
$
$
17,464 $
9,454
0.60
$
$
$
1.50 $
0.80
223,174
$ 197,317
$ 216,229
$ 245,042 $ 310,703
3,662
$
4,295
$
31,953
$
40,346 $
28,850
2.71 to 1
1.48 to 1
2.42 to 1
2.34 to 1
1.96 to 1
$
13.44
$
9.20
$
9.63
$
11.40 $
16.50
11,544,170
11,459,257
11,395,789
11,663,857 11,810,055

(1) See note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements related to restructuring and asset impairment charges
recorded in 2011, 2010 and 2009. See also note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, with respect to
funds received from the Continued Dumping and Subsidy Offset Act in 2011, 2010 and 2009.
(2) See note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements related to the gain resulting from the sale of our interest in
IHFC on May 2, 2011.
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in thousands)
Balance
Beginning of
Period
For the Year Ended November 28, 2009:
Reserve deducted from assets to which it applies

Additions
Charged to Cost
and Expenses

Deductions (1)

Balance End of
Period

Other

Allowance for doubtful accounts

$

7,987

$

8,908

$

(6,138) $

- (2)

$

10,757

Notes receivable valuation reserves

$

6,596

$

5,967

$

(3,613) $

- (2)

$

8,950

Lease/Loan guarantee reserves

$

2,005

$

2,834

$

(1,473) $

- (2)

$

3,366

Restructuring reserve

$

-

$

902

$

(367) $

-

$

535

Lease exit costs

$

2,325

$

2,882

$

(1,708) $

-

$

3,499

Income tax valuation allowance

$

24,430

$

9,553

$

-

$

33,003

$

(980)

For the Year Ended November 27, 2010:
Reserve deducted from assets to which it applies
Allowance for doubtful accounts

$

10,757

$

4,671

$

(8,062) $

-

$

7,366

Notes receivable valuation reserves

$

8,950

$

1,825

$

(4,027) $

-

$

6,748

Lease/Loan guarantee reserves

$

3,366

$

1,407

$

(2,469) $

-

$

2,304

Restructuring reserve

$

535

$

-

$

(535) $

-

$

-

Lease exit costs

$

3,499

$

836

$

(1,488) $

-

$

2,847

Income tax valuation allowance

$

33,003

$

2,962

$

-

$

36,806

$

841 (3)

For the Year Ended November 26, 2011:
Reserve deducted from assets to which it applies
Allowance for doubtful accounts

$

7,366

$

8,778

$

(14,052) $

-

$

2,092

Notes receivable valuation reserves

$

6,748

$

4,684

$

(7,292) $

-

$

4,140

Lease/Loan guarantee reserves

$

2,304

$

1,282

$

(3,078) $

-

$

508

Lease exit costs

$

2,847

$

5,058

$

(3,548) $

-

$

4,357

Income tax valuation allowance

$

36,806

$

-

$

(17,464) $

$

19,612

270 (3)

(1)Deductions are for the purpose for which the reserve was created. Deductions from the income tax valuation
allowance for the year ended November 26, 2011 represent the reduction in income tax expense resulting from the
utilization of net operating loss carryforwards realized against the taxable gain on the sale of IHFC.
(2)Represents reclass of the allowance for doubtful accounts to notes receivable valuation reserves and lease/loan
guarantee reserves.
(3)Represents change in reserve recorded as part of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
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STOCKHOLDER RETURN PERFORMANCE GRAPH
Presented below is a line graph comparing the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total stockholder return on the
Company’s Common Stock against the cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index and the Company’s peer group.
The Company’s peer group consists of Chromcraft Revington Inc., Ethan Allen Interiors, Inc., Flexsteel Industries, Inc., Furniture
Brands International, Inc., Haverty Furniture Companies, Inc., Hooker Furniture Corporation, La-Z Boy Incorporated and Stanley
Furniture Company, Inc. This graph assumes that $100 was invested on November 25, 2006 in the Company’s Common Stock, the
S&P Index and the peer group and that any dividends paid were reinvested.
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Management’s Report of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our “disclosure controls and procedures” (“Disclosure Controls”).
Disclosure Controls, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), are procedures that are designed with the objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed in our
reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this Annual Report, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure Controls are
also designed with the objective of ensuring that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including the CEO and CAO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our
management, including the CEO and CAO, does not expect that our Disclosure Controls will prevent all error and all
fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact
that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues
and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities
that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. The
design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.
Based upon their controls evaluation, our CEO and CAO have concluded that our Disclosure Controls are effective at a
reasonable assurance level.
We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting in accordance with
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. With the participation of our CEO and CAO, our management conducted an evaluation of
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of November 26, 2011 based on the criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of November 26, 2011, based on those criteria. A control system, no matter how well
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are
met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance
that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.
Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Bassett Furniture Industries Inc.
Bassett, Virginia
February 3, 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated
We have audited Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as
of November 26, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Bassett Furniture Industries,
Incorporated and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
In our opinion, Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of November 26, 2011, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated as of November 26, 2011 and
November 27, 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended November 26, 2011 of Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated and our report
dated February 3, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Greensboro, NC
February 3, 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated and
subsidiaries as of November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended November 26, 2011. Our audits also
included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and schedule based on our audits. The financial statements of International Home Furnishings Center, Inc. (a
corporation in which the Company had a 47% interest until it was sold on May 2, 2011) for each of the two years in the
period ended November 27, 2010 have been audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for International Home
Furnishings Center, Inc., is based solely on the report of the other auditors. In the consolidated financial statements, the
Company’s investment in International Home Furnishings Center, Inc. is stated at $(7,356,000) at November 27, 2010,
and the Company’s equity in the net income of International Home Furnishings Center, Inc. is stated at $4,535,000 and
$4,705,000 for each of the two years in the period ended November 27, 2010.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits and the report of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated and
subsidiaries at November 26, 2011 and November 27, 2010, and the consolidated results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended November 26, 2011, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therein.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), Bassett Furniture Industries, Incorporated's internal control over financial reporting as of November 26, 2011,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 3, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

Greensboro, North Carolina
February 3, 2012
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INVESTOR INFORMATION
Internet Site

Corporate Information and Investor Inquiries

Forward Looking Statements

Transfer Agent - Stockholder Inquiries

Our site on the Internet has been updated recently and is
filled with information about Bassett Furniture, including
this annual report, detailed financial information and
updates, information about our home furnishings
products, and a dealer locator of Bassett stores and other
stores that feature Bassett products. Visit us at
bassettfurniture.com.

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements
as defined in the Private Securities Litigation and Reform
Act of 1995 and within the meaning of Sections 27A of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. When used in this Annual Report the words
“hope,” “believe,” “expect,” “plan” or “planned,” “intend,”
“anticipate,” “potential” and similar expressions are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. Readers
are cautioned against placing undue reliance on these
statements. Such statements, including but not limited to
those regarding increases in sales, growth in the number
of Bassett stores, improving gross margins, growth in
earnings per share, changes in capital structure, the
operating performance of licensed Bassett stores, and other
Company-owned stores, are based upon management’s
beliefs, as well as assumptions made by and information
currently available to management, and involve various
risks and uncertainties, certain of which are beyond the
Company’s control. The Company’s actual results could
differ materially from those expressed in any forwardlooking statement made by or on behalf of the
Company.
If the Company does not attain its goals, its business and
results of operations might be adversely affected. For
a discussion of factors that may impair the Company’s
ability to achieve its goals, please see the cautionary
statements in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis
section of this Annual Report.

Our annual report and proxy statement together
contain much of the information presented in the
Form 10-K report filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Individuals who wish to receive the
Form 10-K or other corporate literature should visit our
website at bassettfurniture.com or contact Investor Relations,
at 276.629.6000.

Stockholders with inquiries relating to stockholder
records, stock transfers, change of ownership, change of
address or dividend payments should write to:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Co.
59 Maiden Lane
New York, NY 10038
800-829-8432

Annual Meeting

The Bassett Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be
held Wednesday, April 18, 2012, at 10:00 a.m. EST at the
Company’s headquarters in Bassett, Va.

Market and Dividend Information

Bassett’s common stock trades on the NASDAQ national
market system under the symbol “BSET.” We had approximately
1,000 registered stockholders on November 26, 2011. The
range of per share amounts for the high and low market
prices and dividends declared for the last two fiscal years
are listed below:

MARKET PRICES OF
COMMON STOCK

Quarter

2011
HIGH

First
Second
Third
Fourth

DIVIDENDS
DECLARED

2010

LOW

HIGH

LOW

$7.80 $3.98
9.03 6.73
8.56 7.18
8.05 6.62

$4.53
6.20
5.70
5.10

$3.27
4.42
3.77
3.87

2011

2010

$
0.03
0.03
0.54

-

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
PAUL FULTON
Chairman of the Board
Bassett Furniture Industries, Inc.

GEORGE W. HENDERSON, III
Former Chairman and CEO
Burlington Industries, Inc.

ROBERT H. SPILMAN, JR.
President and Chief Executive Officer
Bassett Furniture Industries, Inc.

J. WALTER MCDOWELL
Private Investor, Consultant

PETER W. BROWN, M.D.
Partner
Virginia Surgical Associates
KRISTINA K. CASHMAN
President
Guy and Larry Restaurants, LLC
HOWARD H. HAWORTH
Retired President
Drexel Heritage Furnishings

DALE C. POND
Retired Senior Executive Vice President
Merchandising and Marketing
Lowe’s Companies, Inc.
WILLIAM C. WAMPLER, JR.
Executive Director, New College
Institute
Former Member, Senate of Virginia
WILLIAM C. WARDEN, JR.
Private Investor

OFFICERS
ROBERT H. SPILMAN, JR.
President and Chief Executive Officer
JOHN E. BASSETT, III
Senior Vice President, Wood
JASON W. CAMP
Senior Vice President, Retail
MARK S. JORDAN
Senior Vice President, Upholstery
J. MICHAEL DANIEL
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
JAY R. HERVEY
Vice President, Secretary, General Counsel, and
Real Estate
MATTHEW S. JOHNSON
Vice President, Product Development and Design

BASSETT, VIRGINIA

NASDAQ: BSET

